ECONSTOR Make Your Publications Visible.

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Vallizadeh, Ehsan; Muysken, Joan; Ziesemer, Thomas

Working Paper Offshoring of medium-skill jobs, polarization, and productivity effect: Implications for wages and low-skill unemployment

IAB-Discussion Paper, No. 7/2015

Provided in Cooperation with: Institute for Employment Research (IAB)

Suggested Citation: Vallizadeh, Ehsan; Muysken, Joan; Ziesemer, Thomas (2015) : Offshoring of medium-skill jobs, polarization, and productivity effect: Implications for wages and low-skill unemployment, IAB-Discussion Paper, No. 7/2015, Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung (IAB), Nürnberg

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/108842

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

Institute for Employment Research

The Research Institute of the Federal Employment Agency



IAB-Discussion Paper 7/2015

Articles on labour market issues

Offshoring of medium-skill jobs, polarization, and productivity effect

Implications for wages and low-skill unemployment

Ehsan Vallizadeh Joan Muysken Thomas Ziesemer

ISSN 2195-2663

Offshoring of medium-skill jobs, polarization, and productivity effect

Implications for wages and low-skill unemployment

Ehsan Vallizadeh (IAB) Joan Muysken (Maastricht University) Thomas Ziesemer (Maastricht University)

Mit der Reihe "IAB-Discussion Paper" will das Forschungsinstitut der Bundesagentur für Arbeit den Dialog mit der externen Wissenschaft intensivieren. Durch die rasche Verbreitung von Forschungsergebnissen über das Internet soll noch vor Drucklegung Kritik angeregt und Qualität gesichert werden.

The "IAB-Discussion Paper" is published by the research institute of the German Federal Employment Agency in order to intensify the dialogue with the scientific community. The prompt publication of the latest research results via the internet intends to stimulate criticism and to ensure research quality at an early stage before printing.

Contents

Abstract					
Zu	Zusammenfassung				
1		5			
2	Task Assignment	8 9 10			
3	Production Technology and Labor Demand	13 14			
4	General Equilibrium Solution				
5	Comparative Statics5.1Increasing Offshorability and Task Reallocation5.2Offshoring and Distributional Effects5.3Offshoring-induced Cost-efficiency Effect	18 18 19 23			
6	Equilibrium Unemployment </td <td>26 27 29</td>	26 27 29			
7	Conclusion	31			
References					
A	Cost-efficiency effect	36			
В	Extension: Alternative offshoring scenarios of domestic job tasks	37			
С	Proofs of Lemmata	44 44 44 45			
D	Firm's optimization problem	46			
E	 General equilibrium solution for changes in task margins E.1 Comparative statics for changes in offshoring E.2 Comparative statics for changes in minimum wage E.3 Comparative statics for changes in offshoring under minimum wage scheme E.4 Comparative statics for changes in offshoring under endogenous low-skilled labor supply 	47 47 48 49 49			
F	Proof of Proposition 1: Uniqueness of Task Margins	52			

Abstract

We examine the effects of endogenous offshoring on cost-efficiency, wages and unemployment in a task-assignment model with skill heterogeneity. Exact conditions for the following insights are derived. The distributional effect of offshoring (high-) low-skill-intensive tasks is similar to (unskilled-) skill-biased technology changes, while offshoring medium-skillintensive tasks induces wage polarization. Offshoring improves cost-efficiency through international task reallocation and puts a downward pressure on all wages through domestic skill-task reallocation. If elasticities of task substitution are low (high), the downward pressure on wages in neighboring skill segments is low (high) with a net effect of higher (lower) wages and employment.

Zusammenfassung

Dieses Papier untersucht die Auswirkungen von Offshoring (der heimischen Berufstätigkeiten) auf verschiedene Indikatoren, wie die Effizienzsteigerung der Produktionskosten, Löhne und Arbeitslosigkeit. Für die Untersuchung wird ein theoretisches Modell entwickelt, das folgende Eigenschaften besitzt: die Offshoring-Entscheidung ist endogen nach dem Kostenminimierungsprinzip bestimmt, die Beschäftigten unterscheiden sich in Hinblick auf ihr Qualifikationsniveau (skills) und die Zuordnung von Tätigkeiten (task-assignment) zu Qualifikationsgruppen erfolgt anhand der komparativen Vorteile der Beschäftigten bei der Ausübung von Berufstätigkeiten. Die Ergebnisse der komparativen Statik zeigen, dass eine marginale Erhöhung der Offshoring-Aktivität in Berufstätigkeiten, in denen (hoch) gering Qualifizierte konzentriert sind, Einkommensverteilungseffekte generiert, die äquivalent zum (unskilled-) skill-biased technologischen Fortschritt sind. Im Gegensatz dazu führt eine Erhöhung der Offshoring-Aktivität in Tätigkeitsaufgaben, in denen mittlere Qualifizierte konzentriert sind, zur Polarisierung der Lohnverteilung, d.h. die Löhne der Beschäftigten mit mittlerer Qualifikation sinkt relativ zu den Löhnen der gering und hoch Qualifizierten. Offshoring steigert die Kosteneffizienz durch die internationale Allokation von Berufstätigkeiten. Sie führt jedoch auch zu niedrigeren Löhnen im Inland, wenn die Tätigkeitsmobilität relativ hoch ist. Dieses Ergebnis hängt maßgeblich von der Substituierbarkeit zwischen Beschäftigungsgruppen in den verschiedenen Tätigkeitsaufgaben ab. Wenn die Substitutionselastizitäten zwischen Berufstätigkeiten niedrig (hoch) sind, so ist der Druck auf die Löhne in der Umgebung der jeweiligen Tätigkeit-Qualifikation Bereiche niedrig (hoch). Damit ergibt sich ein positiver (negativer) Nettoeffekt auf Löhne und Beschäftigung.

JEL classification: F16; F66; J21; J24; J64

Keywords: Task Assignment; Offshoring; Skills; Cost-efficiency Effect; Equilibrium Unemployment

Acknowledgements: The authors are grateful for valuable comments and discussions to Hartmut Egger, Ingo Geishecker, Francesc Ortega and to participants at the 2nd International IAB/RCEA/ZEW Workshop in Nuremberg, 2014, at the 3rd Joint Workshop of Aarhus University and IAB in Nuremberg, 2014, and at ESPE 2014 in Braga.

1 Introduction

One key feature of recent globalization trends is the growing phenomenon of international reorganization of production and work processes, or, put differently, offshoring of jobs, which has heightened concerns regarding job and wage cuts in many advanced countries (cf. Bhagwati/Panagariya/Srinivasan, 2004; Snower/Brown/Merkl, 2009).¹ While earlier studies have highlighted the labor market impact of international fragmentation of the value added chain, captured by the increasing penetration of intermediate goods (Feenstra/Hanson, 1996, 1999; Jones/Kierzkowski, 1990, 2001; Kohler, 2004a,b), recent observations accentuate the important role of job characteristics and task content of occupations (cf. Blinder, 2009a,b). To put it in the words of Blinder (2009b: p.54), "... this time it's not the British who are coming, but the Indians... neither by land nor by sea, but electronically".

More precisely, the recent development in employment and wages depicts a polarizing trend in many advanced countries, indicating a deflection of global competition towards the medium-skilled workforce (Acemoglu/Autor, 2011).² The rationale for this new trend is, on the one hand, advances in information and communication technology (ICT), as well as declines in trade transaction and transportation costs of goods and services that have accelerated the integration process of national markets into a global market. On the other hand, an important factor is rapid growth in major emerging countries, such as Brazil, Russia, India, and China (BRIC). These countries are characterized by high accumulation of human-capital and advanced technologies as well as improvements in the economic and business infrastructure that make them highly competitive in areas such as information technology services in which the advanced countries have been dominant (Bhagwati/Panagariya/Srinivasan, 2004; Snower/Brown/Merkl, 2009; Spence, 2011).³ Both developments have reduced the locational viability of some occupations. That is, jobs that have a high content of routine, non-interactive, and non-cognitive tasks are most likely at peril. The rationale is that these routine-intensive job tasks can be easily codified, enabling firms in many advanced countries to reorganize production and work processes by decomposing the various stages of production geographically into clusters of tasks and locating each task cluster in the countries where it is most profitable (Snower/Brown/Merkl, 2009). Therefore the comparative advantage of performing a specific type of job tasks has become important.

In the recent literature on offshoring job tasks, two main forces have received particular at-

¹ Blinder (2009a) estimates that 30 million to 40 million jobs in the USA are potentially offshorable, while job tasks that require face-to-face contact as well as abstract and cognitive skills are protected. See also the studies by Jensen/Kletzer (2010) and Moncarz/Wolf/Wright (2008) regarding offshorability of service occupations. For example, Moncarz/Wolf/Wright (2008) identify the offshorability of 160 service occupations, where the range of occupations includes scientists, mathematicians, radiologists and editors at the high end of the market as well as those of telephone operators, clerks and typists at the low end.

² For recent empirical evidence regarding the polarization effect in the US labor market see Autor/ Levy/Murnane (2003); Autor/Dorn (2009, 2013); Autor/Katz/Kearney (2006, 2008); Firpo/Fortin/Lemieux (2011); Michaels/Natraj/Van Reenen (2014); and in the European labor markets Baumgarten/ Geishecker/Görg (2013); Dustmann/Ludsteck/Schönberg (2009); Goos/Manning (2007); Goos/Manning/Salomons (2009, 2014); Spitz-Oener (2006).

³ More specifically, Bhagwati/Panagariya/Srinivasan (2004) highlight that the stock of skilled workers in India and China will reach about 300 million in a few decades. Spence (2011) provides a critical discussion on globalization and labor market effects for the USA.

tention, introduced by Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008) trade-in-tasks approach.⁴ While allocating jobs abroad (offshoring) induces a direct *displacement effect* of domestic workers, leading to lower wages, offshoring activities may generate a *productivity effect* similar to technology improvement by lowering a firm's production cost. This productivity effect, in turn, will lead to an expansion of output and thus raise employment and wages. The balance between these two forces will determine the direction of the wage and employment effect of offshoring (Baumgarten/Geishecker/Görg, 2013; Becker/Ekholm/Muendler, 2013; Ebenstein/Harrison/McMillan/Phillips, 2014; Harrison/McMillan, 2011; Hummels/Jørgensen/Munch/Xiang, 2014; Olney, 2012; Ottaviano/Peri/Wright, 2013; Wright, 2014).

However, there exists another important mechanism that shapes substantially the labor market outcomes of offshoring: the spillover effects on other skill groups induced by job tasks mobility of offshoring-induced displaced workers. This channel is omitted in the existing theoretical literature on offshoring and task allocation. Our first contribution is, therefore, to address the two hypotheses regarding polarization and productivity effects in a more general framework that accounts explicitly for several important features: taskskill heterogeneity, endogenous offshoring, and spillover effects due to mobility across job tasks. In doing so, we build on recent important contributions that incorporate the explicit assignment of skills to tasks.⁵ In particular, we provide a theoretical framework that augments recent contributions by Acemoglu/Autor (2011), Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008), and Ottaviano/Peri/Wright (2013) in two ways. First, we allow for endogenous specialization of different skill groups into a continuum of tasks. The implied matching between tasks and skills allows for task competition among different skill groups and thus enables us to jointly investigate changes in the task composition performed by different skills in the economy due to exogenous offshoring shocks, a feature that is absent in Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008) and Ottaviano/Peri/Wright (2013).⁶ Second, and contrary to Acemoglu/Autor (2011), who consider offshoring exogenously, we analyze the offshoring decision by domestic firms as an endogenous process, capturing changes at both the intensive margin, i.e. the range of offshorable tasks, as well as the extensive margin, i.e. the offshorability of a marginal domestic task.

Thus our theoretical framework accounts for all these different mechanisms, which have been addressed separately in the previous literature. Particularly, several important insights can be gained from our approach. First, we show that any offshoring scenario of domestic job tasks can be described by a non-monotonic, U-shaped task productivity schedule. This permits us to capture various phases of international competition and to address their distributional effects for the domestic workforce. As we elaborate below, if offshoring activities are limited to low-skilled job tasks – depicting globalization trends in

⁴ A third channel, as put forward in Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008), is via the terms-of-trade effect that may wipe out the productivity effect. However, see Bhagwati/Panagariya/Srinivasan (2004) for a discussion regarding the empirical insignificance of terms-of-trade effects of offshoring.

⁵ See Acemoglu/Autor (2011) for an elaborate discussion on the limitation of the standard nested CES (so-called "canonical") model compared to the "task-assignment" approach. For the alternative task-skill-assignment approach, see also Autor/Dorn (2013); Costinot/Vogel (2010); Dupuy (2012); Sly (2012).

⁶ Notice the important difference to Ottaviano/Peri/Wright (2013), who assess the task allocation between immigrant, offshore and native workers, though each factor is homogeneous in terms of skills. Our framework, instead, could be easily extended to incorporate task competition between immigrants and natives, e.g. by a CES decomposition of factor labor per task.

the past (cf. Snower/Brown/Merkl, 2009) – then lower offshoring frictions generate a distributional effect similar to *skill*-biased technology changes. If, on the other hand, offshoring is limited to high-skilled job tasks, then easier offshoring induces wage impacts similar to *unskill*-biased technology changes.

Second, we capture three main channels characterizing the recent phase of globalization: i) accumulation of advanced technologies abroad, i.e. a *Ricardian effect*, ii) accumulation of human capital abroad, i.e. a *Heckscher–Ohlin effect*, and iii) decline in transport barriers, i.e. a *trade cost effect*. Although qualitatively they generate similar effects, accounting explicitly for them permits us to address not only changes in the nature of North–South trade, i.e. trade in goods and services between "rich" and "poor" countries, where trade barriers are still substantial, but also the implications of market integration, such as in the context of the enlargement of the European Union towards Central, Eastern, and South-Eastern European countries since 2004, where trade costs are effectively null, but changes in comparative advantages are characterized by a rapid accumulation of advanced technologies and human capital in these regions.

Another new insight, gained from the general equilibrium analysis, is that the cost-efficiency effect induced by easier offshoring depends now on the magnitude of the spillover effects. On the one hand, easier offshoring induces a reallocation of tasks performed by medium-skilled workers to offshore workers. This *external* reallocation is the main source of the productivity effect due to lower offshoring cost. There is, on the other hand, a offshoring-induced spillover effect on other domestic skill groups, which we refer to as the domestic reallocation of workers, i.e. from medium-skilled to low- and high-skilled job tasks. This *internal* reallocation countervails the cost-efficiency effect induced by the external reallocation. Moreover, our analysis reveals that the difference between these two forces depends crucially on the elasticity of substitution between skill groups at the respective extensive task margins.

The importance of this internal reallocation for the labor market impact of offshoring has been put forward in several recent empirical studies (Baumgarten/Geishecker/Görg, 2013; Ebenstein et al., 2014; Hummels et al., 2014). In a nutshell, the empirical evidence suggests that switching occupation is costly for offshoring-induced displaced workers. Using matched worker-firm data from Denmark, Hummels et al. (2014) find that offshoring increases the skill premium within firms, i.e. the relative wage of skilled workers, and that the downward wage pressure is more pronounced in occupations that involve routine tasks. However, by allowing for labor mobility across occupations, they find that the cohort-average wage loss (i.e. of workers who leave the firm, and those who stay) is exacerbated for both low- and high-skilled workers. The authors relate the latter outcome to losses in specific human capital and search cost that considerably hinder the reattachment to the labor market for the offshoring-induced displaced workers. Ebenstein et al. (2014) investigate the impact of trade and offshoring on wages for the USA. The empirical findings show that import penetration and offshoring induce a downward pressure for workers performing routine intensive occupations, while export activities have a positive impact. Moreover, the empirical evidence emphasizes that the negative wage effect becomes substantial once occupation-sector mobility of workers is taken into account, suggesting the important role of occupation-specific human capital. Using data for Germany, Baumgarten/ Geishecker/Görg (2013) find a substantial negative cross-industry wage pattern due to offshoring in occupations with a high routine task content relative to interactivity and nonroutine content of occupational tasks, for both low-skilled and high-skilled workers. Our framework contributes also to the empirical literature by providing structural guidance on the occupational mobility of displaced workers. As we discuss below, the degree of task substitutability between different skill groups is the critical parameter that accounts for the magnitude of internal reallocation.

Another particular debate on offshoring is the displacement effect of the least skilled workers from the labor market. We address this concern by assuming equilibrium unemployment of low-skilled workers in the economy. To keep the framework tractable, we allow for two types of labor market friction. The first source is given by a minimum wage scheme that is set above the market-clearing wage rate and thus leads to unemployment. In a second step, we allow for endogenous supply of low-skilled labor services. While the former – reflecting a perfectly elastic labor supply curve – corresponds to the mirror image of the full employment case, the latter facilitates a more general notion of how the labor market adjusts to offshoring shocks by allowing an elastic labor supply curve. In this second step we derive clear conditions under which the offshoring-induced spillover effects translate into higher low-skilled employment. This is the second contribution to the literature on offshoring tasks.⁷

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. In the next section, we present the task assignment model. In section 3, we describe the production technology and derive the solution to the firm's optimization problem. Section 4 provides the general equilibrium solution followed by the comparative statics in section 5. The implications of offshoring and spillover effects on low-skill unemployment are discussed in section 6. Finally, section 7 offers concluding remarks.

2 Task Assignment

In this section, we discuss the main properties of the task-based framework introduced by Acemoglu/Autor (2011) and Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008). As will be seen below, the factor labor loses its static property and is now assigned to a continuum of tasks based on a Ricardian type of comparative advantage.

Consider an economy where different groups of workers perform a job task. The range of the existing tasks is defined over a unit interval. More specifically, a task *i* can be performed in different modes: by domestic low- (L), medium- (M), and high-skilled (H) labor, as well as by foreign, offshored workers (O). Formally, the production function for a task is written

⁷ It is worth mentioning the study by Kohler/Wrona (2011), who introduce equilibrium unemployment following the search and matching theory and the efficiency wage theory into the original task framework of Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008), characterized by a single sector and homogeneous factor labor. However, our objective is neither to compare different paradigms of labor market friction nor to discuss their different adjustment mechanisms. Thus we deliberately avoid any unnecessary complexity of the model.

$$t(i) = A_L a_L(i) l_L(i) + A_M a_M(i) l_M(i) + A_H a_H(i) l_H(i) + A_O a_O(i) l_O(i) / \tau, \ i \in [0, 1], \ (1)$$

where A denotes the factor-augmenting technology and a(i) indicates the job-task productivity schedule of the respective labor type. The "iceberg" type offshoring friction is captured by the parameter $\tau \ge 1$. The number of low-, medium-, high-skilled and offshore workers performing a job-task i is denoted by $l_k(i)$, $k = \{L, M, H, O\}$.

Below we derive the optimal allocation between the three domestic skill groups as well as the offshore workers. While the single good producer solves simultaneously the optimal assignment of tasks to different labor groups, we demonstrate this procedure sequentially to make the optimal decision behavior better understandable.

2.1 Allocation of Domestic Tasks

We assume that, over the unit interval, tasks are ordered according to the skill requirement in a monotonic way. For example, one can think of this order as manual (e.g. restoring houses and servicing), routine (e.g. bookkeeping and running a machine), and cognitive (e.g. research and management activities) tasks.

Assumption 1. (Domestic Task Productivity)

For all $i \in [0,1]$, $\frac{a_L(i)}{a_M(i)}$ and $\frac{a_M(i)}{a_H(i)}$ are strict monotonically decreasing in i, and by transitivity property $\frac{a_L(i)}{a_H(i)}$ is also strict monotonically decreasing in i.

Since the firm allocates tasks to the group that is the most cost-efficient in performing those tasks, this assumption allows us to determine the equilibrium allocation of tasks among the domestic workers. Let the unit cost of producing task *i* domestically be $c_k(i) = \frac{w_k}{A_k a_k(i)}$, $k = \{L, M, H\}$ where w_k denotes the wage costs, and $c_L(0) < c_M(0) < c_H(0)$. Denoting relative task-productivity by $\beta_L(i) = \frac{a_L(i)}{a_M(i)}$ and $\beta_H(i) = \frac{a_M(i)}{a_H(i)}$, then, in equilibrium, it follows

Lemma 1 (Domestic Task Allocation). By Assumption 1, there exist task margins I_L , I_H , and \tilde{I} , respectively, where a representative domestic firm is indifferent between

Low- and medium-skilled workers

$$\frac{w_L}{A_L} \left(\beta_L(I_L)\right)^{-1} = \frac{w_M}{A_M} \tag{2}$$

Medium- and high-skilled workers

$$\frac{w_H}{A_H}\beta_H(I_H) = \frac{w_M}{A_M} \tag{3}$$

Low- and high-skilled workers

$$\frac{w_L}{A_L} \left(\beta_L(\tilde{I})\right)^{-1} = \beta_H(\tilde{I}) \frac{w_H}{A_H}.$$
(4)

Proof. See Appendix C.1.

Thus, by Lemma 1, the domestic allocation of tasks to skill groups is characterized by the two endogenous thresholds, I_L and I_H . Moreover, Eqs. (2) and (3) determine the degree of substitutability between the domestic skill groups. Put differently, the reallocation of medium-skilled workers to low- and high-skilled intensive job tasks depends on their comparative advantages in the neighborhood of I_L and I_H relative to low-skilled and high-skilled workers, which is characterized by $\beta_L(i)$ and $\beta_H(i)$. More formally,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\ln(w_M/w_L)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon_L} \tag{2'}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\ln(w_H/w_M)} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon_H},\tag{3'}$$

where $\varepsilon_L = -\frac{\partial \ln \beta_L(I_L)}{\partial I_L} > 0$ and $\varepsilon_H = -\frac{\partial \ln \beta_H(I_H)}{\partial I_H} > 0$ denote the semi-elasticities at the respective equilibrium extensive margins. Thus, higher values of ε_L and ε_H denote a relative high comparative advantage of medium-skilled workers at the respective task margin, which in turn implies a low substitutability. As pointed our by Acemoglu/Autor (2011), this indicates an additional source of substitution effect, i.e. the substitutability of skills across tasks.

A corollary follows from Lemma 1

Corollary 1. For all $\frac{w_L}{A_L} (\beta_L(\tilde{I}))^{-1} = \frac{w_H}{A_H} \beta_H(\tilde{I}) > \frac{w_M}{A_M} > \max\{\frac{w_L}{A_L} \beta_L(0)^{-1}, \frac{w_H}{A_H} \beta_H(1)\}$, it follows that $0 < I_L < \tilde{I} < I_H < 1$.

This is a necessary and sufficient condition permitting the existence of all three skill groups in the economy. The lower boundary indicates that low-skilled workers are the most efficient ones at the least skill-intensive task i = 0 and high-skilled workers are the most efficient ones at the most skill-intensive task i = 1. In addition, the upper boundary ensures that medium-skilled workers have comparative advantages in the middle range of the task distribution. For example, if $\frac{w_L}{A_L}\beta_L(\tilde{I})^{-1} = \frac{w_H}{A_H}\beta_H(\tilde{I}) \leq \frac{w_M}{A_M}$, then employment consists of only low- and high-skilled workers.⁸ Medium-skilled workers have then no comparative advantage in performing any task relative to low- and high-skilled workers. To sum up, by Lemma 1 and Corollary 1, the domestic labor force is allocated over the unit interval as follows: low-skilled workers are employed in the interval $i \in [0, I_L]$, medium-skilled in $i \in (I_L, I_H)$, and high-skilled in $i \in [I_H, 1]$. We depict the equilibrium task allocation in Figure 1.

2.2 Allocation of Offshored Tasks

As discussed in the introduction, the empirical evidence shows that over recent decades there has been a strong tendency to reallocate domestic tasks abroad. This process particularly applies to jobs intensive in routine tasks and concentrated in the middle range of the skill distribution. This in turn may explain the recent trends in wage polarization in

⁸ Notice that at strict equality the employer is indifferent between all three skill groups at margin \tilde{I} .

many advanced countries. Based on this pattern, Acemoglu/Autor (2011) investigate the distributional effect of offshoring by allowing a sub-range of domestic tasks, which were previously performed by medium-skilled workers, to be exogenously offshored.

However, this ad-hoc introduction of offshoring neglects to address another important aspect discussed in the literature: the offshoring-induced productivity effect. In order to address this effect, we need to account not only for changes at the extensive margin, as in Acemoglu/Autor (2011), but also for changes at the intensive margin. The intuition is that easier offshoring, e.g. due to lower trade cost, will not only induce more domestic job tasks to be offshored (extensive margin), but will additionally have implications for all job tasks that have already been offshored (intensive margin). Therefore it may affect overall production costs.

We augment the general task-based framework of Acemoglu/Autor (2011) by allowing domestic firms to choose endogenously the cost-optimal range of tasks to be offshored. As we discuss below, this in turn requires a non-monotonic comparative advantage schedule between domestic medium-skilled and offshore workers. More precisely, the relative task-productivity schedule becomes a U- (or V-)shaped relationship. Moreover, as we discuss below, any scenario of offshoring can be described by this U-shaped functional form. Formally, we impose the following assumption

Assumption 2. (Offshoring Task Productivity)

Defining the job-task productivity between medium-skilled and offshore workers by $\zeta(i) = \frac{a_M(i)}{a_O(i)}$, there exists a threshold \check{I} such that for all $i \in [0,\check{I})$, $\zeta(i)$ is (strict) monotonically decreasing, and for all $i \in (\check{I}, 1]$, $\zeta(i)$ is (strict) monotonically increasing.

Let the offshoring wage rate be given by w_O . Then, a domestic firm engaged in offshoring chooses the optimal amount of offshore workers, given the wage rate w_O , according to the following unit cost of producing task i abroad: $c_O(i)=\tau \frac{w_O}{A_O a_O(i)}.$ The term $\frac{\tau w_O}{A_O}$ is exogenous to the domestic firm and comprises the aforementioned three channels of globalization process, a feature that is missing in Acemoglu/Autor (2011). For example, a decline in w_O is associated with skill accumulation abroad, indicating the Heckscher–Ohlin effect, an increase in A_O denotes advances in foreign technology, the *Ricardian effect*, and a decline in τ indicates lower transportation barriers, the *trade cost effect*. Summarizing all these exogenous channels by $\omega \equiv \frac{A_O}{\tau w_O}$, lower offshoring friction is now captured by $d\omega > 0$. Although each channel generates a similar qualitative effect, accounting explicitly for each of them has the following advantages. First, it allows us to address the implication of various forms of globalization, e.g. North-South vs. East-West type of trade and offshoring activities. Second, it enables us to provide clear policy guidance regarding how the source country of offshoring could react to the increasing global competition on domestic jobs, e.g. if lower offshoring friction is due to $dw_Q < 0$, then one possible response could be to increase the trading costs $d\tau > 0$; if it is due to $dA_Q > 0$, then the source economy could possibly invest more in R &D to increase its technology frontier on those job tasks (i.e. $dA_M > 0$). The optimal task allocation between foreign and domestic medium-skilled workers is summarized as follows.

Lemma 2. By Assumption 2, there exist two task margins where a firm is indifferent between the domestic medium-skilled and offshore workers, i.e.

$$\frac{\zeta(I_1)}{\omega} = \frac{w_M}{A_M} \tag{5}$$

$$\frac{\zeta(I_2)}{\omega} = \frac{w_M}{A_M}.$$
(6)

Proof. See Appendix C.2.

Thus, by Lemma 2 the effect of offshoring is captured by the two endogenous offshoring boundaries, I_1 and I_2 . They capture both the extensive margin, i.e. the offshorability of the marginal domestic task, as well as the intensive margin, i.e. the amount of tasks that have been already offshored. However, it is useful and sufficient to consider changes to the length of offshoring interval, i.e.

$$I_O = I_2 - I_1,$$

which accounts implicitly for two conditions, (5) and (6). This has analytical convenience. Let the semi-elasticities at the two offshoring margins be constant and defined as $\varepsilon_1 = -\frac{\partial \ln \zeta_1(I_1)}{\partial I_1} > 0$ and $\varepsilon_2 = \frac{\partial \ln \zeta_2(I_2)}{\partial I_2} > 0$. Then, by a simple positive monotone transformation, we obtain

Lemma 3. If Lemma 2 holds, then the two no-arbitrage conditions determining the task reallocation between medium-skilled and offshore workers can be expressed as one monotonically increasing function in the length of the offshorable task interval

$$\frac{w_M}{A_M} = \frac{\beta_O(I_O)}{\omega},\tag{7}$$

with $\beta_O(I_O) = \exp[\mu I_O]$ and $\mu = \frac{\varepsilon_2 \varepsilon_1}{\varepsilon_2 + \varepsilon_1} > 0$.

Proof. See Appendix C.3.

From Lemma 2 and Lemma 3 it follows

Corollary 2. For all ω in the interval $\frac{A_M}{w_M}\beta_O(0) < \omega < \{\frac{A_M}{w_M}\zeta(I_L)\}, \frac{A_M}{w_M}\zeta(I_H)\}$, and $I_L < \check{I}|_{\frac{\partial \ln \zeta(\cdot)}{\partial i}=0} < I_H$, it follows that $I_O > 0$ and $I_O \in (I_L, I_H)$.

Thus Corollary 2 ensures that offshoring activities are permitted, but limited to a sub-range of medium-skilled job tasks. Put differently, if ω is sufficiently low such that $\omega = \frac{A_M}{w_M}\zeta(I_L)$ (or $\omega = \frac{A_M}{w_M}\zeta(I_H)$), then there is direct competition between foreign and domestic low-skilled (or high-skilled) workers.⁹ Thus, for all four types of workers to exist in the economy, we assume that both Corollaries 1 and 2 hold. These conditions, as well as the equilibrium task allocations, are sketched in Figure 1.

⁹ Notice that such an outcome – as pointed out by Blinder (2009a,b) – might not be unrealistic. However, the polarization effect would become ambiguous due to the direct competition of offshore workers with low-skilled (or high-skilled) workers next to medium-skilled workers.





Summarizing the results above, the task production function emerges as

$$t(i) = \begin{cases} A_L a_L(i)l(i) & \text{for all } i \in [0, I_L] \\ A_M a_M(i)m(i) & \text{for all } i \in (I_L, I_H) \setminus I_O \\ A_O a_O(i)o(i)/\tau & \text{for all } i \in I_O \\ A_H a_H(i)h(i) & \text{for all } i \in [I_H, 1]. \end{cases}$$

$$(8)$$

Equation (8), therefore, reveals the new feature of our model. First, the range of offshorable tasks is determined endogenously. Second, the reallocation of domestic medium-skilled tasks and the size of the expansion of offshorable tasks is crucially determined by the relative productivity schedules in the neighborhood of I_1 and I_2 , i.e. by the parameters ε_1 and ε_2 . Below, we elaborate analytically on these features.

3 Production Technology and Labor Demand

The economy produces a final (consumption) good under perfect competition. The output is generated by using a labor composite, E, according to the following Cobb–Douglas technology function

$$Y = BE^{1-\alpha}, \ \alpha \in (0,1), \tag{9}$$

where *B* is a positive parameter that may contain exogenous variables such as total factor productivity (TFP) and physical capital, and α denotes the standard share of physical capital. Thus the production function (9) has diminishing returns in labor input.¹⁰ We consider *Y* as the numeraire, i.e. $P_Y = 1$. The labor composite input is, in turn, described by differ-

¹⁰ Notice that when B = 1 and $\alpha = 0$, equation (9) reduces to the one used by Acemoglu/Autor (2011).

entiated tasks, over a unit interval, according to the following Cobb–Douglas technology:¹¹

$$E = \exp\left(\int_0^1 \ln(t(i)) di\right).$$
(10)

This specification allows us to deliver new insights regarding the offshoring-induced costefficiency effect.

3.1 Optimal Labor Demand

The firm's optimization problem is as follows. Taking the output price as given, the representative firm maximizes its profit by choosing the optimal amount of the labor composite factor. Formally, this is given by

$$\max_{E} \pi = Y - P_{E}E$$
, s.t. (9).

The solution yields the optimal total employment

$$E = P_E^{-\frac{1}{\alpha}} \mathcal{B},\tag{11}$$

where $\mathcal{B} = ((1-\alpha)B)^{1/\alpha}$ and P_E denotes the price index of the labor composite, which will be defined below. The optimal amount of labor input per job task is determined by means of cost minimization. Formally, we write the optimal programming of the firm as follows:

$$C_{E}^{*}(w_{L}, w_{M}, w_{H}, w_{O}) \equiv \min_{l_{L}(i), l_{M}(i), l_{H}(i), l_{O}(i), E} \left[w_{L} \int_{0}^{I_{L}} l_{L}(i) di + w_{M} \int_{i \in S_{\mathcal{M}}} l_{M}(i) di \right] + w_{O} \int_{i \in I_{O}} l_{O}(i) di + w_{H} \int_{I_{H}}^{1} l_{H}(i) di = \mathbf{S}.$$
 (12)

where the corresponding set of domestic medium-skill-intensive job tasks is denoted by $S_M = (I_H - I_L - I_O).$

The corresponding minimized cost function of the labor composite is given by:

$$C_E^*(\cdot) = \exp\left[\int_0^{I_L} \ln\left(\frac{w_L}{A_L a_L(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{i \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{M}}} \ln\left(\frac{w_M}{A_M a_M(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{i \in I_O} \ln\left(\frac{\tau w_O}{A_O a_O(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{I_H}^1 \ln\left(\frac{w_H}{A_H a_H(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i\right] E.$$
(13)

Then, by Shepard's lemma, we obtain the optimal labor demand per task:¹²

$$\frac{\partial C_E^*(\cdot)}{\partial w_L} = \left(\frac{w_L}{P_E}\right)^{-1} E = l_L \tag{14a}$$

$$\frac{\partial C_E^*(\cdot)}{\partial w_M} = \left(\frac{w_M}{P_E}\right)^{-1} E = l_M \tag{14b}$$

¹¹ Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008) assume perfect complementarity, i.e. a Leontief production function. Ottaviano/Peri/Wright (2013) assume a more general functional form by using a CES production technology.

¹² In Appendix D, we derive the minimized cost function $C^*(\cdot)$ and show that at the optimum the number of workers per task is constant across the respective range of tasks. This is particularly due to the Cobb–Douglas assumption of the production technology as well as the law of one price within each skill group. This implies that the marginal productivity within each skill-task group is constant, i.e. l(i) = l, m(i) = m, and so on. See Firpo/Fortin/Lemieux (2011) for a critical discussion regarding the assumption of law of one price.

$$\frac{\partial C_E^*(\cdot)}{\partial w_H} = \left(\frac{w_H}{P_E}\right)^{-1} E = l_H \tag{14c}$$

$$\frac{\partial C_E^*(\cdot)}{\partial w_O} = \left(\frac{w_O}{P_E}\right)^{-1} E = l_O, \tag{14d}$$

where we used the fact that in perfect competitive equilibrium price equals marginal costs, i.e.

$$P_E = \exp\left[\int_0^{I_L} \ln\left(\frac{w_L}{A_L a_L(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{i \in \mathcal{S}_M} \ln\left(\frac{w_M}{A_M a_M(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{i \in I_O} \ln\left(\frac{\tau w_O}{A_O a_O(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{I_H}^1 \ln\left(\frac{w_H}{A_H a_H(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i\right]$$
(15)

The price index contains all three exogenous variables leading to changes in the offshoring friction: foreign technology (A_O) , foreign wages (w_O) , offshoring trade cost (τ) . Recall that $\omega = \frac{A_O}{w_O \tau}$, then it can be shown that the partial effect of easier offshoring $(d\omega > 0)$ causes the marginal (average) cost of labor to decrease. That is,

$$\frac{\partial P_E}{\partial \omega} < 0. \tag{15'}$$

The impact of lower offshoring friction refers to what is called the offshoring-induced *cost-efficiency improvement* in the literature.¹³ However, the general equilibrium implications (i.e. taking into account changes in the task margins) reveal a countervailing effect due to an internal (domestic) reallocation of workers, which is generally ignored in the literature. To account for this, Eq. (15) needs further manipulation. Utilize the cut-off conditions (2) and (3) from Lemma 1 to substitute for $\frac{w_L}{A_L}$ and $\frac{w_H}{A_H}$, respectively. Analogously, utilize the no-arbitrage condition (7) from Lemma 3 to substitute for $\frac{\tau w_O}{A_O}$. Then, P_E reduces to

$$P_E = \frac{w_M}{A_M} \exp\left[\int_0^{I_L} \ln\left(\frac{\beta_L(I_L)}{a_L(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i - \int_{i \in \mathcal{S}_M} \ln(a_M(i)) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{i \in I_O} \ln\left(\frac{1}{\beta_O(I_O)a_O(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{I_H}^1 \ln\left(\frac{1}{\beta_H(I_H)a_H(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i\right]$$

Decompose the term $\int_{i \in S_M} \ln(a_M(i)) di$ to combine it with the terms $\ln a_L(i)$, $\ln a_O(i)$, and $\ln a_H(i)$. Then, after some rearranging and manipulation, we obtain

$$P_E = \frac{w_M}{A_M} \Omega(I_L, I_H, I_O), \tag{16}$$

¹³ It is worth mentioning that this effect is omitted in Acemoglu/Autor (2011) as the price index P_E is set to unity.

where¹⁴

$$\Omega(\cdot) = \exp\left[\left(\int_0^{I_L} \ln\left(\frac{\beta_L(I_L)}{\beta_L(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{I_H}^1 \ln\left(\frac{\beta_H(i)}{\beta_H(I_H)}\right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{i \in I_O} \ln\left(\frac{\zeta(i)}{\beta_O(I_O)}\right) \mathrm{d}i - \int_0^1 \ln(a_M(i)) \mathrm{d}i\right)\right]$$
(17)

denotes the generalized common part of the marginal task cost. Thus this common part Ω accounts for the general equilibrium effect due to changes in the offshorability of domestic tasks. Contrary to the original version of Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008), where Ω is simply defined as a function of one offshoring margin, easier offshoring does not necessarily induce a *cost-efficiency* effect. As we elaborate below, it depends on the interaction between internal reallocation, i.e. medium-skilled workers to low- and high-skilled job tasks, and external reallocation, i.e. moving domestic jobs abroad.

4 General Equilibrium Solution

The general equilibrium closed solution to the equilibrium task margins is characterized by the cut-off conditions (2), (3) and (7) derived respectively in Lemma 1 and Lemma 3, and the optimal labor demand functions, (14a)–(14d). From these conditions, we obtain a system of three equations determining simultaneously the implicit solution to the task margins, as we elaborate in this section.

From the optimal task-skill allocation (8) we obtain the labor-market-clearing condition

$$\int_{0}^{I_{L}} l_{L}(i) \mathrm{d}i = N_{L}, \ \int_{i \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{M}}} l_{M}(i) \mathrm{d}i = N_{M}, \ \int_{I_{H}}^{1} l_{H}(i) \mathrm{d}i = N_{H}, \ \int_{i \in I_{O}} l_{O}(i) \mathrm{d}i = n_{O}, \ (18)$$

where $N_k, k \in \{L, M, H\}$ denotes the total (exogenously given) mass of domestic labor supply by skill and n_O indicates the total (endogenous) mass of offshore employment. The labor-market-clearing condition (18) can be solved for l_L , l_M , l_H and l_O . Utilizing the resulting expressions, respectively, in the demand functions (14a)–(14d) and solving for relative medium-skilled wages, we obtain

$$\frac{w_L}{w_M} = \frac{N_M}{N_L} \frac{I_L}{I_H - I_L - I_O}$$
(19a)

$$\frac{w_M}{w_O} = \frac{n_O}{N_M} \frac{I_H - I_L - I_O}{I_O}$$
(19b)

$$\frac{w_M}{w_H} = \frac{N_H}{N_M} \frac{I_H - I_L - I_O}{1 - I_H}.$$
 (19c)

It is readily seen from Eqs. (19a), (19b) and (19c) that, *ceteris paribus*, the relative (inverse) demand functions are decreasing in the labor supply and increasing in the respec-

$$\begin{split} \left[\int_{0}^{I_{L}} \ln\left(\frac{\beta_{L}(I_{L})}{a_{L}(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{0}^{I_{L}} \ln(a_{M}(i)) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{I_{H}}^{1} \ln(a_{M}(i)) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{i \in I_{O}} \ln(a_{M}(i)) \mathrm{d}i - \int_{0}^{1} \ln(a_{M}(i)) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{i \in I_{O}} \ln\left(\frac{1}{\beta_{O}(I_{O})a_{O}(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{I_{H}}^{1} \ln\left(\frac{1}{\beta_{H}(I_{H})a_{H}(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i \right]. \end{split}$$

As is readily seen, the expression can be reduced further. For example,

$$\int_{0}^{I_{L}} \ln(a_{M}(i)) di - \int_{0}^{I_{L}} \ln(a_{L}(i)) di = \int_{0}^{I_{L}} \ln(\beta_{L}(i)) di$$

and so on. Following these steps, we obtain Eq. (17).

¹⁴ More precisely, after substitution, the term within the square brackets becomes

tive equilibrium task margins. Note, however, that Eq. (19b) contains on the right-hand side an additional endogenous variable, n_O , which is defined by the FOC (14d). Since the offshoring wage rate, w_O , is exogenously given for the domestic firm, any changes in the interval of offshorable tasks I_O will affect n_O . To adjust for this effect, substitute for n_O from the optimal demand equation (14d) and condition (18) to obtain

$$\frac{n_O}{I_O} = \frac{P_E E}{w_O}.$$
(14d')

Furthermore, from (11) we get $P_E E = P_E^{-\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}} \mathcal{B}$. Substituting it back into (14d') yields

$$\frac{n_O}{I_O} = \frac{P_E^{-\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}}\mathcal{B}}{w_O}.$$
(14d'')

However, the price index is a function of task margins, thus endogenous too. To account for this, utilize the cut-off conditions (7) from Lemma 3 for $\frac{w_M}{A_M}$ in (16), and rearrange to obtain

$$P_E = \frac{\beta_O(I_O)}{\omega} \Omega(I_L, I_H, I_O).$$

Substituting this for P_E in (14d^{''}), and combining the outcome with (19b), we obtain the relative demand function

$$\frac{w_M}{w_O} = \frac{\mathcal{B}}{\left(\frac{\beta_O(I_O)}{\omega}\Omega(I_L, I_H, I_O)\right)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}}w_O}\frac{I_H - I_L - I_O}{N_M}.$$
(20)

Combining now the Eqs. in (19a) and (19c), respectively, with the no-arbitrage conditions (2) and (3) as well as (20) with the no-arbitrage condition (7), after rearranging slightly, yields

$$\frac{N_L A_L}{N_M A_M} = \frac{I_L}{(I_H - I_L - I_O)\beta_L(I_L)}$$
(21a)

$$\frac{\mathcal{B}}{N_M A_M} \omega^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} = \frac{\beta_O(I_O)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \Omega(\cdot)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}}}{I_H - I_L - I_O}$$
(21b)

$$\frac{N_M A_M}{N_H A_H} = \frac{I_H - I_L - I_O}{(1 - I_H)\beta_H(I_H)},$$
(21c)

where again $\omega \equiv \frac{A_O}{\tau w_O}$ captures exogenous changes in offshorability. We summarize the equilibrium characteristics in the following proposition.

Proposition 1 (Unique Equilibrium). By Lemmata 1, 2, and 3, together with the Corollaries 1 and 2, the system of equations (21a)–(21c) determines the unique equilibrium values for all endogenous task margins $\{I_L, I_H, I_O\}$ as a function of the exogenous variables and parameters.

Proof. A rigorous formal discussion is provided in the supplementary mathematical Appendix F.

Notice that the left-hand side of the Eqs. in (21) consists only of exogenous variables and

parameters of the model. The right-hand sides denote the medium-skilled labor demand relative to other type of workers at the equilibrium set of tasks. For example, in Eq. (21a) the right-hand side can be seen as the relative demand for low-skill-intensive tasks, in (21c) the relative demand for high-skill-intensive tasks is denoted, and so on. Therefore the 3×3 system of equations in (21) determines the general equilibrium closed solution of the endogenous task margins.

5 Comparative Statics

Utilizing the system (21a)–(21c), we compute in this section the general equilibrium effects of easier offshoring on the endogenous equilibrium margins. Particularly, as mentioned earlier, easier offshoring is associated with $d\omega > 0$ induced either by i) a *Heckscher–Ohlin effect*, lower foreign wage costs ($dw_O < 0$) due to accumulation of human capital abroad; ii) a *Ricardian effect*, advances in technology ($dA_O > 0$), e.g. owing to utilization of more advanced machines abroad; and/or iii) a *trade cost effect*, lower offshoring cost ($d\tau < 0$), e.g. because of abolition of transportation barriers.

Therefore, next to trade cost, we explicitly account for two additional channels of increasing globalization of the production process. This feature is missing from both the original framework of Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008) and the generalized one of Acemoglu/Autor (2011).

5.1 Increasing Offshorability and Task Reallocation

Taking logs in the equations derived in (21) and rearranging, we obtain

$$-\ln\left(\frac{N_L A_L}{N_M A_M}\right) + \ln I_L - \ln\left(I_H - I_L - I_O\right) - \ln\beta_L(I_L) = 0$$
(22a)

$$-\ln\left(\frac{\mathcal{B}}{A_M N_M}\right) - \ln\left(I_H - I_L - I_O\right) + \frac{1}{\alpha}\ln\beta_O(I_O) + \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\ln\Omega(\cdot) = \frac{1}{\alpha}\ln\omega$$
(22b)

$$-\ln\left(\frac{N_M A_M}{N_H A_H}\right) + \ln\left(I_H - I_L - I_O\right) - \ln\beta_H(I_H) - \ln(1 - I_H) = 0.$$
(22c)

Now we can compute the impact of easier offshoring on the task margins. We summarize the main results in the following proposition.

Proposition 2 (Easier Offshoring of Medium-Skilled Tasks & Changes in Task Margins). *Qualitatively, easier offshoring* ($d\omega > 0$), *due to advances in offshoring-biased technology* ($dA_O > 0$), *or lower offshoring cost* ($d\tau < 0$), *or a decline in foreign wage costs* ($dw_O < 0$), *induces an expansion of the offshorable task range and a contraction of low- and high-skillintensive tasks ranges*

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega} < 0, \quad \frac{\mathrm{d}I_O}{\mathrm{d}\omega} > 0, \quad \frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} > 0, \qquad \text{and} \qquad \left|\frac{\mathrm{d}I_O}{\mathrm{d}\omega}\right| > \left|\frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega}\right| + \left|\frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega}\right|.$$

The asymmetry in the domestic reallocation of medium-skilled workers is determined by

the comparative advantage schedules

$$\left|\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln I_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega}\right| \stackrel{<}{\underset{}{=}} \left|\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega}\right|, \Rightarrow \left|\frac{1+\varepsilon_H(1-_H)}{1-I_H}\right| \stackrel{<}{\underset{}{=}} \left|\frac{1+\varepsilon_L I_L}{I_L}\right|.$$

Proof. A full analytical proof is provided in Appendix E.1.

The intuition can be explained in the following way. Easer offshoring increases the cost advantage for domestic firms to reallocate domestic job tasks abroad. This effect displaces the marginal medium-skilled workers performing job tasks in the neighborhood of I_O . The Walrasian nature of the labor market implies a downward wage adjustment of medium skilled workers. This in turn indicates that the no-arbitrage conditions in Lemma 1 are off equilibrium, which are reassured by a reallocation of displaced medium-skilled workers to low-skill- (i.e. lower I_L) and high-skill- (i.e. higher I_H) intensive job tasks.

Thus, Proposition 2 highlights what Costinot/Vogel (2010) call a *task upgrading* at the highskill-extensive margin, i.e. more medium-skilled workers produce former high-skilled tasks, and a *task downgrading* at the low-skill-extensive margin, i.e. more medium-skilled workers produce former low-skilled tasks.¹⁵ Again, the magnitude of the skill down- and upgrading is determined by substitutability of medium-skilled workers at the equilibrium task margins I_L and I_H . Thus a relative low substitutability at the high-skill-intensive job tasks (higher values of ε_H) implies that medium-skilled workers are disproportionately allocated into lowskill-intensive job tasks. The empirical literature has highlighted a gradual increase in skill downgrading in many advanced countries. Particularly, medium-skilled workers are more likely to be downgraded into jobs (occupations) that require lower educational attainment (Brynin/Longhi, 2009). In the following section we deviate from the perfect competitive labor market assumption and investigate the potential crowding-out effect of low-skilled workers induced by offshoring.

5.2 Offshoring and Distributional Effects

As discussed in the introduction, in many advanced countries the recent evidence highlights a polarizing wage trend, i.e. a relative decline of medium-skilled wages compared to low- and high-skilled wages. This is in sharp contrast to wage developments in the past, where the burden of globalization regarding wage and employment cuts was mainly borne by low-skilled workers. Particularly, the evolution of earnings inequality followed a monotonic increase between the skill groups (for a neat survey of the literature, see Acemoglu/Autor, 2011). In this section, we address the distributional effect of different stages

¹⁵ Notice, however, that (easier) offshoring in our framework differs from Costinot/Vogel (2010: section VI.B.). Their results affirm a pervasive rise in wages of more skilled workers, i.e. an increase in inequality, induced by an implicit increase in the size of the relatively skill scarce foreign economy. In contrast, we follow up on the recent empirical findings on the offshoring-induced polarization effect, i.e. a decline in wages of medium-skilled workers relative to low- and high-skilled, and highlight different channels that may lead to easier offshoring.

of global competition and show that offshoring generates income effects similar to factorbiased technology (cf. Acemoglu, 2002). We summarize the main results in the following proposition.

Proposition 3 (Offshoring and Income Distribution). If offshoring activities are limited to low-skilled-intensive job tasks (indicating globalization trends in the past), then lower offshoring friction induces a distributional impact similar to skill-biased technology change, i.e. $\frac{d(w_L/w_M)}{d\omega} < 0$ and $\frac{d(w_M/w_H)}{d\omega} < 0$. If offshoring is permitted to medium-skilled job tasks (indicating recent globalization trends), then easier offshoring leads to a wage polarization effect, i.e. $\frac{d(w_L/w_M)}{d\omega} > 0$ and $\frac{d(w_M/w_H)}{d\omega} < 0$. If offshoring activities are limited to high-skill-intensive job tasks (indicating potential future globalization trends), then a marginal decline in offshoring friction lowers the wage gap between skill groups similar to unskilled-biased technology changes, i.e. $\frac{d(w_L/w_M)}{d\omega} > 0$ and $\frac{d(w_L/w_M)}{d\omega} > 0$ and $\frac{d(w_L/w_M)}{d\omega} > 0$.

Below we provide a graphical assessment of the distributional impact of each of the offshoring scenarios.

Polarization Effect

Given the results of the comparative statics for changes in the equilibrium task margins, we proceed now with the assessment of the distributional effect of offshoring of mediumskilled job tasks. In doing so, we need to recall the no-arbitrage conditions: Eq. (2): $\frac{w_L}{w_M} = \frac{A_L}{A_M} \beta_L(I_L)$, and Eq. (3): $\frac{w_M}{w_H} = \frac{A_M}{A_H} \beta_H(I_H)$; together with the labor demand functions for medium-skilled workers relative to low-skilled workers Eq. (19a): $D_{LM} \equiv \frac{w_L}{w_M} = \frac{N_M}{N_L} \frac{I_L}{I-I_L}$, and relative to high-skilled workers, Eq. (19c): $D_{MH} \equiv \frac{w_M}{w_H} = \frac{N_H}{N_M} \frac{I_H - \hat{I}}{1 - I_H}$, where $\hat{I} \equiv I_H - I_O$ and $\hat{I} \equiv I_L + I_O$. Thus, for given I_H and I_O , D_{LM} is increasing in I_L , while higher (lower) values of I_O (I_L) induce a leftward shift of D_{LM} . The relative labor demand curve between medium- and high-skilled workers D_{MH} is increasing in I_H for given values I_L and I_O , while higher values of both I_O and I_H lead to a rightward shift of D_{MH} .

Moreover, it is readily seen that, for all exogenous shocks, but labor-biased technology (A_j) , changes in the relative medium-skilled wage compared to low- and high-skilled wages is a movement along the task productivity schedule, $\beta_L(\cdot)$ and $\beta_H(\cdot)$. To fix ideas, we illustrate the four conditions in Figure 2. Notice that the marginal decline in offshoring friction is captured by a decline in \hat{I} and an increase in \hat{I} , implying a shift in the relative labor demand curves. From Proposition 2, the task margin I_L will decline, while I_H increases. This will lead to a slight backward shift in the relative labor demand curves. Eventually, the economy will reach the points a' and b', denoting the new equilibrium task margins. Notice that the internal reallocation of workers mitigates the wage polarization effect. The magnitude of this countervailing effect will have important implications for changes in the level of wages, which we elaborate next.

Figure 2: Offshoring medium-skilled job tasks and wage polarization



Skill-Biased Effect

We now turn to the case where offshoring is permitted to low-skill-intensive job tasks. A formal discussion of this scenario is provided in Appendix B. Notice again that any changes in relative wages between the skill groups due to exogenous changes in offshoring friction is a movement along the relative task productivity schedules, $\beta_L(I_L)$ and $\beta_H(I_H)$. The only difference compared to the previous case is that the relative labor demand conditions have changed. Now a (sub)range of low-skill-intensive job tasks is offshored, denoted by the equilibrium task margin \tilde{I}_O . Thus any changes in offshoring friction will directly shift the relative demand curve between low- and medium-skilled workers (denoted by \tilde{D}_{LM}) to the left, while the relative labor demand between medium- and high-skilled workers (denoted by \tilde{D}_{MH}) shifts rightward only for changes in the task margin I_L . We derive the relevant conditions in Appendix B and Figure 3 provides a graphical illustration of them.



Figure 3: Offshoring low-skilled job tasks and skill-biased wage effect

The intuitive mechanism behind the distributional effect of offshorability of low-skilled job

tasks can be explained in the following way. Compared to medium-skilled workers, a decline in the offshoring friction (d $\omega > 0$) increases the comparative advantages of offshore workers relative to low-skilled workers. Thus more low-skilled job tasks will be reallocated abroad that were previously performed by low-skilled workers. This implies higher values of the task margin \tilde{I}_O . Due to the Walrasian nature of the labor markets, the currently offshoring-induced unemployed low-skilled workers must be reemployed, leading to higher competition for available jobs and consequently to a decline of the low-skilled wage rate. This, in turn, raises the comparative advantages of low-skilled workers relative to medium-skilled workers.

Consequently, a proportion of medium-skill-intensive job tasks will be now allocated to lowskilled workers that were previously performed by medium-skilled workers (i.e. an increase in I_L). This effect is captured by a downward shift of the relative demand curve between low- and medium-skilled workers (\tilde{D}_{LM}). Following similar logic, the relative demand curve between medium- and high-skilled workers will shift to the right. These adjustments are depicted in Figure 3, where the economy converges eventually to the new equilibrium points a' and b'. As is readily seen, the skill premium, i.e. the relative wage between low- and medium-skilled as well as between medium- and high-skilled workers, increases monotonically. This outcome confirms the wage trends in the past due to international competition that were mainly borne by domestic unskilled workers and is in sharp contrast to recent polarizing wage trends in many advanced countries. Thus recent trends highlight the significant shift in the international competition for the domestic workforce.

Unskilled-biased Effect

As discussed in the introduction, many occupations that require a high level of skill for cognitive and complex tasks (think of computer programming, statistical analysis) may be at peril in future due to potential international competition (?Bhagwati/Panagariya/Srinivasan, 2004). We provide a intuitive discussion of the distributional impact of this possible future scenario and illustrate graphically the adjustment mechanism.

In this scenario offshoring occurs at the higher end of skill-task distribution, such that a proportion of domestic high-skill-intensive job tasks is only allocated abroad, denoted by \hat{I}_O . As in the previous case, the two no-arbitrage conditions (2) and (3) derived in Lemma 1 still hold. Thus the adjustment due to marginal changes in the offshoring friction occurs along the relative labor demand functions, which is depicted now by \hat{D}_{LM} and \hat{D}_{MH} . Intuitively, the mechanism works similarly to the previous cases. A lower offshoring friction leads to an expansion of offshore job tasks. The now displaced high-skilled workers are induced to compete for a lower range of job tasks available in the labor market, leading to a decline in their wages.

From the no-arbitrage condition (3) it follows that I_H declines. This is illustrated in Figure 4 by a rightward shift in the relative labor demand curve between high- and medium-skilled workers \hat{D}_{MH} . Consequently the competition between medium-skilled workers increases, which pushes their wages down. From no-arbitrage condition (2) it can be verified that I_L

Figure 4: Offshoring high-skilled job-tasks and unskill-biased wage effects



declines. This is depicted by a leftward shift of the relative demand curve \hat{D}_{MH} in Figure 4. The labor market converges eventually to the new equilibrium points a' and b', which indicates an increase of relative wages of workers with an inferior skill level. In the next section, we turn back to the polarization case and derive the condition under which the real wage of all domestic workers increases due to the cost-efficiency effect.

5.3 Offshoring-induced Cost-efficiency Effect

As argued earlier, offshoring may generate a cost-efficiency effect similar to advances of technology. The rationale for this is that domestic firms engaged in offshoring benefit from easier offshoring at the *extensive margin*: more tasks can be moved abroad, as well as at the *intensive margin*: tasks that have already been offshored now become cheaper to import – a feature that is omitted in Acemoglu/Autor (2011). Therefore domestic firms experience a reduction in their average production cost, which in turn may lead to beneficial outcomes for the domestic workers.

As will become evident below, the offshoring-induced cost effects depend now on the interaction between the external reallocation and the internal, domestic reallocation of tasks. These two forces will affect the cost of composite labor P_E , which in turn might benefit all workers, even those who have been displaced directly. This new channel is in contrast to the task-based approaches discussed by Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008), where every type of domestic worker is performing a distinct range of tasks and offshoring is characterized by one extensive margin, splitting task produced at home and abroad along this range. It also differs from the approach by Acemoglu/Autor (2011), where the cost index of composite labor (P_E) is held constant.

To derive the effects of easier offshoring on the domestic real wage, we combine the domestic labor demand functions, (14a), (14b) and (14c), with the labor-market-clearing condition (18) to obtain the inverse labor demand functions

$$w_L = \frac{I_L}{N_L} P_E E \tag{23}$$

$$w_M = \frac{I_H - I_L - I_O}{N_M} P_E E \tag{24}$$

$$w_H = \frac{1 - I_H}{N_H} P_E E.$$
(25)

Interestingly, the inverse labor demand conditions, (23), (24) and (25), imply that the cost share of each skill group is now denoted by the endogenous equilibrium range of tasks performed by the respective skill group. Moreover, the endogenous cost shares indicate the additional source of substitutability between skill groups across the tasks. Thus this new property can be seen as a generalization of the standard Cobb–Douglas function.¹⁶

Next, utilizing the optimal demand condition for E, Eq. (11), yields

$$w_L = \frac{I_L}{N_L} P_E^{-\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}} \mathcal{B}$$

$$w_M = \frac{I_H - I_L - I_O}{N_M} P_E^{-\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}} \mathcal{B}$$

$$w_H = \frac{1 - I_H}{N_H} P_E^{-\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}} \mathcal{B}.$$

Recall now the definition of P_E from Eq. (16) and, together with the no-arbitrage conditions (2) and (3) defined in Lemma 1, we obtain, after some rearranging

$$w_L = \left(\frac{I_L}{N_L}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\beta_L(I_L)^{-1}\Omega(\cdot)\right)^{-(1-\alpha)} A_L^{1-\alpha} \mathcal{B}^{\alpha}$$
(26)

$$w_M = \left(\frac{I_H - I_L - I_O}{N_M}\right)^{\alpha} (\Omega(\cdot))^{-(1-\alpha)} A_M^{1-\alpha} \mathcal{B}^{\alpha}$$
(27)

$$w_H = \left(\frac{1-I_H}{N_H}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\beta_H(I_H)\Omega(\cdot)\right)^{-(1-\alpha)} A_H^{1-\alpha} \mathcal{B}^{\alpha}.$$
 (28)

These equations denote the *generalized* optimal demand for the domestic workforce that accounts for all endogenous equilibrium task margins. It is immediately evident that, given the properties of the task productivity schedules, $\beta_L(\cdot)$ and $\beta_H(\cdot)$, a decline in $\Omega(\cdot)$ will induce a positive demand effect for labor in the economy, thus increasing the wage level of all skills. We denote this effect as the cost-efficiency effect. Computing changes in $\Omega(\cdot)$, we obtain (see Appendix A for the formal derivation)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln\Omega(\cdot)}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = \underbrace{\left((1-I_H)\varepsilon_H\frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} - \varepsilon_L I_L\frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega}\right)}_{\mathcal{R}>0} - \underbrace{\left(I_O\mu\frac{\mathrm{d}I_O}{\mathrm{d}\omega}\right)}_{\mathcal{E}>0}.$$
(29)

Changes due to *internal* reallocation, i.e. relocating medium-skilled workers towards lowand high-skill-intensive jobs is denoted by \mathcal{R} and changes due to the *external* reallocation, i.e. moving domestic medium-skill-intensive tasks abroad, is denoted by \mathcal{E} . Notice that by

¹⁶ However, notice the difference compared to Acemoglu/Autor (2011), where the task margins denote the expenditure share of each type of tasks in terms of the value of total output.

the results of the comparative statics in Proposition 2, both the internal \mathcal{R} and the external \mathcal{E} allocation effects are positive.

Therefore, for the marginal production cost of composite labor (Ω) to decrease in the course of easier offshoring, the necessary condition requires $\mathcal{E} > \mathcal{R}$. As shown in Appendix A, for the following sufficient low substitutability between medium-skilled and offshore workers, the external reallocation effect will be dominating, i.e.

$$\mu > \frac{1 - (I_H - I_L)}{I_O(I_H - I_L - I_O)}.$$
(30)

However, this condition is not sufficient to ensure an increase in the real wage. The sufficient condition can be derived by straightforwardly differentiating the demand functions, (26), (27) and (28), which yields

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln w_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = \left(\frac{\alpha}{I_L} - (1-\alpha)\varepsilon_L\right)\frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega} - (1-\alpha)\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln\Omega}{\mathrm{d}\omega}$$
(31a)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln w_M}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = -\frac{\alpha \mathrm{d}I_L}{I_H - I_L - I_O} - \frac{\alpha \mathrm{d}I_O}{I_H - I_L - I_O} + \frac{\alpha \mathrm{d}I_H}{I_H - I_L - I_O} - (1 - \alpha)\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln\Omega}{\mathrm{d}\omega}$$
(31b)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln w_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = \left((1-\alpha)\varepsilon_H - \frac{\alpha}{1-I_H} \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} - (1-\alpha)\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln\Omega}{\mathrm{d}\omega}.$$
(31c)

Now using Eq.(29) to substitute for $\frac{d \ln \Omega}{d\omega}$ in (31b) and rearranging the terms, we obtain

$$\frac{d\ln w_L}{d\omega} = \left(\frac{\alpha}{I_L} - (1-\alpha)\varepsilon_L\right)\frac{dI_L}{d\omega} - (1-\alpha)\frac{d\ln\Omega}{d\omega}$$

$$\frac{d\ln w_M}{d\omega} = \left((1-\alpha)I_L\varepsilon_L - \frac{\alpha}{I_H - I_L - I_O}\right)\frac{dI_L}{d\omega} + \left((1-\alpha)I_O\mu - \frac{\alpha}{I_H - I_L - I_O}\right)\frac{dI_O}{d\omega}$$
(31a)

$$+\left(\frac{\alpha}{I_H - I_L - I_O} - (1 - \alpha)(1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H\right)\frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} \tag{31b'}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln w_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = \left((1-\alpha)\varepsilon_H - \frac{\alpha}{1-I_H} \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} - (1-\alpha)\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln\Omega}{\mathrm{d}\omega}$$
(31c')

Notice that defining the sign of Eq. (31b') determines also the relationship between internal (i.e. \mathcal{E}) and external (i.e. \mathcal{R}) task reallocation. The converse is obviously not true. Therefore, in (31a') and (31c') we need to elaborate the sign of the first term on the right hand side. We summarize the results in the following proposition.

Proposition 4 (Offshoring-induced Cost-efficiency Effect). *Given the impact of easier* offshoring of medium-skilled tasks on the task reallocation derived in Proposition 2, an offshoring-induced cost-efficiency improvement raises the real wage of all domestic worker for the following jointly sufficient conditions:

1.
$$\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\frac{1}{I_L(I_H-I_L-I_O)} > \varepsilon_L > \frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)I_L}$$

2.
$$\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\frac{1}{(1-I_H)(I_H-I_L-I_O)} > \varepsilon_H > \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\frac{1}{(1-I_H)}$$

3.
$$\mu > \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \frac{1}{I_O(I_H - I_L - I_O)}$$

Proof. The lower boundary in part 3, as well as the upper limits in parts 1 and 2, follow

straightforwardly from (31b'). The lower limits in parts 1 and 2 are, respectively, derived from (31a') and (31c').

The intuition behind the jointly sufficient conditions in Proposition 4 is the following. Higher values of ε_L (ε_H) imply a higher comparative advantage of low-skilled (high-skilled) workers in the neighborhood of I_L (I_H) relative to medium-skilled workers. Now recall Eq. (2') and Eq. (3') to see the implications. It is readily evident that the size of the parameters ε_L and ε_H importantly determines the magnitude of the change of the task margins I_L and I_H for a one percentage change in relative wages, respectively. This effect is, as put forward in Acemoglu/Autor (2011), the additional source of substitutability between skill groups across tasks, next to the elasticity of substitution of unity arising from the Cobb–Douglas functional form.

The important implication of this additional substitution effect of skills across tasks can be inferred from the following special case. Take the limit $\varepsilon_L \rightarrow 0$ (indicating perfect substitutability between low- and medium-skilled workers at I_L), then from Eq. (31a') it can be easily inferred that the first term reduces to $\frac{\alpha}{I_L} \frac{dI_L}{d\omega}$, which by Proposition 2 is unambiguously negative. This is the offshoring-induced labor supply effect as the displaced workers have to be reabsorbed by the labor market. Hence, Proposition 4 highlights that the cost-efficiency effect due to easier offshoring will raise the real wage of all skill groups as the overall labor demand increases more than offshoring-induced increase in labor supply if the comparative advantages of low-skilled and high-skilled workers are sufficiently preserved.

6 Equilibrium Unemployment

So far we have assumed full employment and analyzed the pure distributional effect of offshoring. However, another concern raised in the public debate on offshoring is the displacement effect of workers, leading to unemployment. In this section, we generalize the framework by allowing for equilibrium unemployment. In doing so, we assume that only low-skilled workers face the risk of unemployment. Intuitively and in line with our discussion in the introduction, easier offshoring may indirectly displace low-skilled workers from the labor market due to increasing competition with the offshoring-induced unemployed medium-skilled workers. In the literature, this potential displacement effect is referred to as the crowding-out effect; see Muysken/Vallizadeh/Ziesemer (2015) for a discussion.

We assume two alternative types of labor market friction, without altering the structure of the model. An intuitive source of friction is a minimum wage regime, which is set above the market equilibrium wage rate. Consequently, a proportion of low-skilled workers ends up unemployed. Alternatively, frictions can arise when we allow for endogenous supply of low-skill labor services. In this case the low-skilled wage is set as a mark-up over the unemployment benefits, where the mark-up depends negatively on unemployment rate. While the former is the mirror image of the full-employment case, characterized by a perfect elastic labor supply curve, the latter allows for an elastic labor supply curve and thus includes the standard approach of labor supply.

6.1 Minimum Wage Regime

Let the institutional minimum wage be \overline{W} . We assume that the minimum wage is set sufficiently low such that it is still attractive for domestic firms to employ low-skilled workers, but is sufficiently high such that a proportion of low-skilled workers ends up unemployed. Let u_L denote the low-skilled unemployment rate. Formally, we impose the following assumption on the minimum wage scheme.

Assumption 3. (Minimum wage setting)

$$w_L < \bar{W} < \frac{w_M A_L}{A_M} \beta_L(0),$$

where w_L and w_M are the equilibrium values resulting from the model analyzed in the previous section.

Given the level of minimum wage, the representative firm will then reallocate the job tasks between low- and medium-skilled workers such that the no-arbitrage condition (2) holds again, though at a lower equilibrium threshold. Moreover, from the general equilibrium perspective, our analysis implies that all other task margins will readjust too. The intuition is the following. A higher minimum wage scheme increases the relative comparative advantage of medium-skilled workers compared to low-skilled workers. Thus, from condition (2), the task margin I_L must decline. This in turn implies that the range of tasks allocated to medium-skilled workers will increase, and from relative medium-skill labor demand conditions (19a)–(19c), medium skill wages will increase too. Consequently, the range of tasks performed by high-skilled $(1 - I_H)$ and offshore workers I_O must increase to satisfy again the no-arbitrage conditions (3) and (7).

In addition, compared to the full-employment case, now only a fraction of low-skilled workers can be hired, i.e. $n_L = (1 - u_L)N_L$, and the resource constraint becomes $l = \frac{n_L}{I_L}$. This implies that the adjustment channel in the low-skill labor market is through employment instead of wages. Thus the relative demand condition for low-skilled workers defined in (19a) has to account for the endogenous adjustment in low-skilled employment. In order to investigate the impact of offshoring on the low-skilled unemployment rate, it is necessary to examine first the impact of offshoring on task allocation under the minimum wage scheme. We proceed with the derivation of the new equilibrium conditions, while, for the sake of illustration, we use the same expression for the equilibrium task margins as in the frictionless labor market scenario.

Recall the first-order condition (14a), where now the marginal productivity of low-skilled workers equals the minimum wage scheme, and utilize the low-skilled labor constraint to obtain

$$\frac{n_L}{I_L} = \frac{P_E^{-\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}}\mathcal{B}}{\bar{W}},\tag{32}$$

which is equivalent to the full-employment case, except that now the level of employment, n_L , is endogenous while the level of wage is fixed. Next, notice that the no-arbitrage condition (2) is defined now as

$$\frac{\bar{W}}{w_M} = \frac{A_L}{A_M} \beta_L(I_L). \tag{33}$$

Using this observation together with Eq. (16), we obtain

$$P_E = \frac{\bar{W}}{A_L} \beta_L(I_L)^{-1} \Omega(\cdot).$$
(34)

Substituting Eq. (34) for P_E in Eq. (32), we obtain the generalized low-skilled labor demand equation under a minimum wage scheme

$$\frac{n_L}{I_L} = \frac{\left(\frac{\bar{W}}{A_L}\beta_L(I_L)^{-1}\Omega(\cdot)\right)^{-\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}}\mathcal{B}}{\bar{W}}.$$
(35)

Utilizing this expression in the relative demand equation (19a), together with the new noarbitrage condition (33), we obtain the modified implicit condition that accounts for the minimum wage scheme and the endogenous low-skilled employment

$$\frac{\mathcal{B}}{A_M N_M} \left(\frac{A_L}{\bar{W}}\right)^{1/\alpha} = \frac{\beta_L (I_L)^{-1/\alpha} \Omega(\cdot)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}}}{I_H - I_L - I_O}.$$
(36)

This is equivalent to Eq. (21a) in the frictionless labor market scenario. Utilizing Eq. (36) together with Eqs. (21b) and (21c), we obtain the modified implicit 3×3 system of equations for the endogenous task margins.

Taking logs and rearranging slightly yields

$$-\frac{1}{\alpha}\ln\left(\beta_{L}(I_{L})\right) + \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\ln\left(\Omega(I_{H}, I_{L}, I_{O})\right) - \ln\left(I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O}\right) - \ln\left(\frac{\mathcal{B}}{A_{M}N_{M}}\right) - \frac{1}{\alpha}\ln\left(\frac{A_{L}}{\bar{W}}\right) = 0$$

$$\frac{1}{\alpha}\ln\left(\beta_{O}(I_{O})\right) + \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\ln\left(\Omega(I_{H}, I_{L}, I_{O})\right) - \ln\left(I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O}\right) - \ln\left(\frac{\mathcal{B}}{A_{M}N_{M}}\right) - \frac{1}{\alpha}\ln\left(\omega\right) = 0$$
(37)
$$\ln\left(I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O}\right) - \ln\left(1 - I_{H}\right) - \ln\left(\beta_{H}(I_{H})\right) - \ln\left(\frac{A_{M}N_{M}}{A_{H}N_{H}}\right) = 0.$$

By straightforward differentiation of the system (37), one can compute the impact of an increase in the minimum wage scheme as well as easier offshoring on the equilibrium task margins. We summarize the main results in the following proposition and refer readers to the Appendix E.2 and E.3 for a formal proof.

Proposition 5 (Minimum Wage, Offshoring Medium-skilled Tasks, and Task Margins). If offshoring medium-skilled tasks is permitted and the low-skill labor market is characterized by a minimum wage scheme, then a rise in the minimum wage scheme will lead to a contraction of low-skill-intensive jobs tasks, i.e. $\frac{dI_L}{dW} < 0$, and an expansion of high-skill-intensive and offshorable job tasks, i.e. $\frac{dI_H}{dW} < 0$ and $\frac{dI_O}{dW} > 0$, respectively. Easier offshoring generates similar skill-task reallocation as in Proposition 2.

Given these results, we can now assess the impact of easier offshoring in the low-skilled unemployment rate. In doing so, recall the low-skilled labor demand condition (35). Rearranging and taking logs, we obtain

$$\ln n_L = \ln(I_L) + \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha} \ln(\beta_L(I_L)) - \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha} \ln(\Omega(\cdot)) - \frac{1}{\alpha} \ln \bar{W} + \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha} \ln A_L + \ln \mathcal{B}.$$

Now total differentiating w.r.t. offshoring friction ($d\omega > 0$) yields

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln n_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = \left(\frac{1}{I_L} - \frac{(1-\alpha)}{\alpha}\varepsilon_L\right)\frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega} - \frac{(1-\alpha)}{\alpha}\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln\Omega}{\mathrm{d}\omega}.$$

The following proposition summarizes the main results regarding the impact of offshoring on low-skilled unemployment rate.

Proposition 6 (Minimum Wage, Offshoring Medium-Skilled Tasks, and Low-Skilled Unemployment). If a fraction of low-skilled workers is unemployed due to a minimum wage scheme, then easier offshoring of medium-skilled tasks will lead to a decline in the lowskilled unemployment rate if and only if Proposition 4 holds.

The intuition is similar to the one discussed in Proposition 4. The difference is that now, with a minimum wage scheme, the low-skill labor market adjustment occurs via employment.

6.2 Endogenous Labor Supply

A more general approach to addressing labor market frictions is to allow workers to supply endogenously labor services, implying an elastic labor supply curve. This feature has important implications for labor market outcomes. In doing so, we follow the standard approach in the literature and assume that the low-skilled wage is a mark-up on unemployment benefits that depends negatively on the unemployment rate. This mark-up can be explained in many ways, such as the standard individual leisure–work choice, wage bargaining (Layard/Nickell/Jackman, 2005), search and matching theory à la Pissarides (2000) and efficiency wages à la Shapiro/Stiglitz (1984). Imposing such a negative relationship between the mark-up and unemployment induces an elastic labor supply curve. This way, we provide a more general analysis of labor market effects of offshoring compared to the minimum wage case.¹⁷

Let the endogenous low-skilled wage curve be defined by

$$w_L = f(u_L)b_L,\tag{38}$$

where $f(u_L)$ denotes the mark-up over unemployment benefits, b_L , and has the following properties: $f(u_L) > 1$ and $\frac{\partial f(u_L)}{\partial u_L} < 0$. Moreover, we define the elasticity of the wage curve in absolute value w.r.t. u_L as $\tilde{\delta} \equiv -\frac{d \ln f(u_L)}{d \ln u_L} > 0$.

In this case, both the low-skilled wage and employment will adjust to exogenous shocks. Thus, compared to full employment and minimum wage cases, the low-skilled labor demand functions (26) and (35) become

$$w_L = \left(\frac{I_L}{(1-u_L)N_L}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{\beta_L(I_L)}{\Omega(\cdot)}\right)^{1-\alpha} (A_L \mathcal{B})^{\alpha},$$
(39)

¹⁷ It is worth mentioning the important implications of applying different equilibrium unemployment paradigms regarding the adjustment mechanism of the labor market to exogenous shocks. However, our objective is not to explain the efficiency of various adjustment mechanisms, and thus we deliberately leave this to future research. For an application of search-matching and efficiency wage theories to the original task-based approach of Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008), see Kohler/Wrona (2011).

where we utilized $n_L = (1 - u_L)N_L$. This implies that the relative demand between lowand medium-skilled workers in Eq. (21a) has to account for the endogenous changes in low-skilled employment. Formally, we write this condition by

$$\frac{N_L A_L}{N_M A_M} = \frac{1}{1 - u_L} \frac{I_L}{(I_H - I_L - I_O)\beta_L(I_L)}.$$
(40)

The model is closed by the adjusted market-clearing condition in the low-skilled labor market, i.e. from Eqs. (39) and (38)

$$f(u_L)b_L = \left(\frac{I_L}{(1-u_L)N_L}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{\beta_L(I_L)}{\Omega(\cdot)}\right)^{1-\alpha} A_L^{1-\alpha} \mathcal{B}^{\alpha}.$$
(41)

Thus the new system of equations consists of Eqs. (21b), (21c), (40) and (41). Taking logs and rearranging slightly, we obtain

$$\ln\left(\frac{A_L N_L}{A_M N_M}\right) = -\ln(1-u_L) + \ln I_L - \ln(I_H - I_L - I_O) - \ln\beta_L(I_L)$$

$$\ln\left(\frac{\mathcal{B}}{A_M N_M}\right) + \frac{1}{\alpha}\ln\omega = \frac{1}{\alpha}\ln\beta_O(I_O) + \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\ln\Omega(\cdot) - \ln(I_H - I_L - I_O)$$

$$\ln\left(\frac{A_M N_M}{A_H N_H}\right) = -\ln(1-I_H) + \ln(I_H - I_L - I_O) - \ln\beta_H(I_H)$$

$$\alpha\ln\left(\frac{\mathcal{B}}{N_L}\right) - \ln b_L + (1-\alpha)\ln A_L = \alpha\ln(1-u_L) + \ln f(u_L) + (1-\alpha)(\ln\Omega(\cdot) - \ln\beta_L(I_L)) - \alpha\ln I_L.$$
(42)

This is the generalized 4×4 implicit system of equations that accounts for endogenous supply of labor services. Notice also that the left-hand side consists of all exogenous variables, while the right-hand side accounts for the four endogenous variables I_L , I_O , I_H and u_L .

Now the marginal impact of offshoring on task margins and the low-skilled unemployment rate can be computed by straightforward differentiation of (42) w.r.t. ω and the endogenous variables. We summarize the main results in the following proposition.

Proposition 7 (Offshoring Medium-skilled Tasks, Labor Supply, and Low-skilled Unemployment). If the low-skilled labor market is characterized by an endogenous wage curve, where a fraction u_L of low-skilled workers are unemployed, then offshoring of medium-skill job tasks unambiguously reduces the low-skilled unemployment rate for sufficiently low substitutability between medium- and high-skilled workers at task margin I_H and between medium- and low-skilled workers at task margin I_L , i.e.

$$\varepsilon_H > \frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)I_H(1-I_H)}, \qquad \varepsilon_L > \frac{1}{(1-\alpha)I_L(I_H-I_L)}.$$

Moreover, by the sufficient conditions in Proposition 4, real wages of all skill groups rise.

Proof. See Appendix E.4.

Thus Proposition 7 highlights again the importance of comparative advantages in performing job tasks, which determine the magnitude of spillover effects induced by offshoring. Recall the interpretation of the parameters ε_L and ε_H , capturing the substitutability of skill groups at the respective equilibrium task margin. The spillover of medium-skilled workers induced by offshoring is dominated by an overall rise in total employment if both high-skilled and low-skilled workers have sufficiently high comparative advantages in performing tasks in the neighborhood of I_H and I_L , respectively. Moreover, notice that the lower boundaries in Proposition 7 dominate those in Proposition 4, but they are not binding since all derived boundaries are not necessary conditions.¹⁸ The intuition behind the real wage effect is equivalent to the one provided in Proposition 4.

In addition, it is important to notice the difference from the minimum wage case, where now higher comparative advantages of low- and high-skilled workers are required due to endogenous labor supply. Intuitively, the low-skilled labor market will adjust to the spillover effect as follows. The bumping down of medium-skilled workers (lower I_L) will displace some of low-skilled workers, who were previously performing those tasks in the neighborhood of I_L . The increase in the unemployment rate will in turn lead to a downward wage adjustment due to a lower mark-up (captured by a flatter wage curve), mitigating the relative rise in comparative advantage of medium-skilled workers.

7 Conclusion

In this paper we have analyzed the general equilibrium effects of easier offshoring on task allocation within the domestic economy as well as in the foreign economy. We augment the current literature analyzing the implications of increasing international competition vis-à-vis the domestic labor force with respect to the following features. First, by introducing endogenous offshoring, we have augmented the framework of Acemoglu/Autor (2011), where offshoring is exogenously given. Second, we allow for a heterogeneous labor market, characterized by low-, medium- and high-skilled workers, where the allocation of each skill group to job tasks is based on a Ricardian type of comparative advantages along a unit interval. In doing so, we augment the seminal task-based approach of Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008), where each group of labor is producing a distinct, completely independent range of tasks. In this way, we are able to address two contradictory hypotheses regarding the distributional impact of offshoring for domestic workers: a wage polarization effect and a cost-efficiency effect. Finally, we allow for equilibrium unemployment of low-skilled workers. In doing so, we are able to capture important externalities in the labor market, such as the bumping down of medium-skilled workers inducing a crowding-out effect of low-skilled workers.

The general equilibrium analysis provides several new insights, on which the existing theoretical literature has been silent. First, we show that any scenario of offshoring domestic job tasks can be described by a U-shaped relative productivity schedule between domestic and offshore workers. This allows us to address different stages of globalization, where the burden in terms of wage and employment cuts was borne by different skill groups, e.g. the

¹⁸ As discussed in the supplementary mathematical Appendix E.4, it can be verified that for sufficiently low substitutability between medium-skilled and offshore workers (i.e. high values of μ), the low-skilled unemployment rate might still decline, even if Proposition 7 is violated.

trends in the past affected mainly low-skilled workers, while recent trends show increasing competition for medium-skilled workers, and potential future developments towards high-skilled workers. Moreover, our analysis reveals that offshoring of low-skill-intensive job tasks generates distributional effects similar to *skill*-biased technology changes – consistent with observations in the past, see Acemoglu (2002), offshoring medium-skill-intensive domestic job tasks induces a wage polarization effect (reflecting recent trends), while off-shoring of high-skill-intensive domestic job tasks generates an income distribution effect similar to *unskilled*-biased technology changes (Goldin/Katz, 2009).

Second, we derive clear conditions that characterize the offshoring-induced cost-efficiency effect. We show that the cost-efficiency effect induced by offshoring domestic job tasks, what we refer to as the external reallocation, is countervailed by an internal reallocation of tasks to domestic workers. More precisely, the internal reallocation refers to reallocation of offshoring-induced displaced medium-skilled workers to low-skill- and high-skill-intensive job tasks. The balance between the two forces depends importantly on the substitutability between medium- and low-skilled workers and between high- and medium-skilled workers at the respective equilibrium task margins. More precisely, for sufficient low substitutability, the internal reallocation effect is dominated by the external one. In this case, all domestic skill groups benefit in terms of higher real wages. The importance of this internal reallocation has been put forward in the recent empirical literature (cf. Baumgarten/Geishecker/Görg, 2013; Hummels et al., 2014).

Finally, we elaborate the implications of the bumping-down effect of medium-skilled workers induced by easier offshoring for the low-skilled unemployment rate. Our analysis reveals that if the substitutability between medium- and low-skilled workers at the equilibrium task margin is sufficiently low (i.e. low-skilled workers have sufficiently higher comparative advantages in performing the domestic job tasks), then the crowding-out effect is offset by the offshoring-induced cost-efficiency effect, boosting the low-skilled labor market.

References

Acemoglu, Daron (2002): Technical Change, Inequality, and the Labor Market. In: Journal of Economic Literature, Vol. 40, p. 7–72.

Acemoglu, Daron; Autor, David (2011): Chapter 12 - Skills, Tasks and Technologies: Implications for Employment and Earnings. In: Ashenfelter, Orley; Card, David (Eds.) Handbook of Labor Economics, Vol. 4, Part B, Elsevier, p. 1043–1171.

Autor, David H.; Dorn, David (2013): The Growth of Low Skill Service Jobs and the Polarization of the U.S. Labor Market. In: American Economic Review, Vol. 103, No. 5, p. 1553–1597.

Autor, David H.; Dorn, David (2009): This Jobs are Getting Old: Measuring Changes in Job Opportunities using Occupation Age Structure. In: American Economic Review: Papers & Proceedings, Vol. 99, No. 2, p. 45–51.

Autor, David H.; Katz, Lawrence F.; Kearney, Melissa S. (2008): Trend in U.S. Wage Inequality: Revising the Revisionists. In: Review of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 90, p. 300–323.

Autor, David H.; Katz, Lawrence F.; Kearney, Melissa S. (2006): The Polarization of the U.S. Labor Market. In: American Economic Review, Vol. 96, No. 2, p. 189–194.

Autor, David H.; Levy, Frank; Murnane, Richard J. (2003): The Skill Content of Recent Technological Change: An Empirical Investigation. In: The Quarterly Journal of Economics, Vol. 118, p. 1279–1333.

Baumgarten, Daniel; Geishecker, Ingo; Görg, Holger (2013): Offshoring, tasks, and the skill-wage pattern. In: European Economic Review, Vol. 61.

Becker, Sascha O.; Ekholm, Karolina; Muendler, Marc-Andreas (2013): Offshoring and the onshore composition of tasks and skills. In: Journal of International Economics, Vol. 90, p. 91–106.

Bhagwati, Jagdish; Panagariya, Arvind; Srinivasan, T.N. (2004): The Muddles over Outsourcing. In: Journal of Economic Perspectives, Vol. 18, p. 93–114.

Blinder, Alan S. (2009a): How Many U.S. Jobs Might Be Offshorable? In: World Economics, Vol. 10, No. 2, p. 41–78.

Blinder, Alan S. (2009b): Offshoring: Big Deal, or Business as Usual? In: Friedman, Benjamin M. (Ed.) Offshring of Amercian Jobs. What Response from U.S. Economic Policy?, Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press, p. 19–60.

Brynin, Malcolm; Longhi, Simonetta (2009): Overqualification: Major or minor mismatch? In: Economics of Education Review, Vol. 28, p. 114–121.

Costinot, Arnaud; Vogel, Jonathan (2010): Matching and Inequality in the World Economy. In: Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 118, No. 4, p. 747–786. Dupuy, Arnaud (2012): A Microfoundation for Production Functions: Assignment of Heterogeneous Workers to Heterogeneous Jobs. In: Economica, Vol. 79, p. 534–556.

Dustmann, C.; Ludsteck, J.; Schönberg, U. (2009): Revisiting the German Wage Structure. In: Quarterly Journal of Economics, Vol. 124, No. 2, p. 843–881.

Ebenstein, Avraham; Harrison, Ann; McMillan, Margaret; Phillips, Shannon (2014): Estimating the Impact of Trade and Offshoring on American Workers Using the Current Population Surveys. In: The Review of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 96, No. 4, p. 581–595.

Feenstra, Robert C.; Hanson, Gordon H. (1999): THE IMPACT OF OUTSOURCING AND HIGH-TECHNOLOGY CAPITAL ON WAGES: ESTIMATES FOR THE UNITED STATES, 1979–1990. In: The Quarterly Journal of Economics, Vol. 86, No. 2, p. 240–245.

Feenstra, Robert C.; Hanson, Gordon H. (1996): Globalization, Outsourcing, and Wage Inequality. In: The American Economic Review, Vol. 86, No. 2, p. 240–245.

Firpo, Sergio; Fortin, Nicole M.; Lemieux, Thomas (2011): Occupational Tasks and Changes in the Wage Structure, iZA, Discussion Paper No. 5542.

Gandolfo, Giancarlo (2010): Economic Dynamics. Springer-Verlag, fourth ed., study Edition.

Goldin, Claudia Dale; Katz, Lawrence F (2009): The race between education and technology. Harvard University Press.

Goos, Maarten; Manning, Alan (2007): Lousy and Lovely Jobs: The Rising Polarization of Work in Britain. In: Review of Economic Studies, Vol. 89, p. 118–133.

Goos, Maarten; Manning, Alan; Salomons, Anna (2014): Explaining Job Polarization: Routine-Biased Technological Change and Offshoring. In: American Economic Review, Vol. 104, p. 2509–2526.

Goos, Maarten; Manning, Alan; Salomons, Anna (2009): Job Polarization in Europe. In: American Economic Review: Papers & Proceedings, Vol. 99, p. 58–63.

Grossman, Gene M.; Rossi-Hansberg, Esteban (2008): Trading Task: A Simple Theory of Offshoring. In: American Economic Review, Vol. 98, p. 1978–1997.

Harrison, Ann; McMillan, Margaret (2011): Offshoring Jobs? Multinationals and U.S. Manufacturing Employment. In: The Review of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 93, No. 3, p. 857–875.

Hummels, David; Jørgensen, Rasmus; Munch, Jakob; Xiang, Chon (2014): The Wage Effects of Offshoring: Evidence from Danish Matched Worker-Firm Data. In: American Economic Review, Vol. 104, No. 6.

Jensen, J. Bradford; Kletzer, Lori G. (2010): Measuring Tradable Services and the Task Content of Offshorable Services Jobs. University of Chicago Press, p. 309–335, URL http://www.nber.org/chapters/c10826.

Jones, Ronald W.; Kierzkowski, Henryk (2001): A Framework For Fragmentation. In: Arndt, S.; Kierzkowski, H. (Eds.) Fragmentation: New Production Patterns in the World Economy, New York: Oxford University Press, p. 17–45.

Jones, Ronald W.; Kierzkowski, Henryk (1990): The Role of Services in Production and International Trade: A Theoretical Framework. In: Jones, Ronald W.; Krueger, Anne O. (Eds.) The Political Economy of International Trade, Oxford: Basil Blackwell, p. 31–48.

Kohler, Wilhelm (2004a): Aspects of International Fragmentation. In: Review of International Economics, Vol. 12, p. 793–816.

Kohler, Wilhelm (2004b): International Outsourcing and Factor Prices with Multistage Production. In: Economic Journal, Vol. 114, p. 166–185.

Kohler, Wilhelm; Wrona, Jens (2011): Offshoring Tasks, yet Creating Jobs?, university of Tübingen, Working Paper No. 12.

Layard, Richard; Nickell, Stephen; Jackman, Richard (2005): Unemployment: Macroeconomic Performance and the Labour Market. Oxford University Press.

Michaels, Guy; Natraj, Ashwini; Van Reenen, John (2014): Has ICT Polarized Skill Demand? Evidence from Eleven Countries over Twenty-Five Years. In: The Review of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 96, No. 1, p. 60–77.

Moncarz, Roger J.; Wolf, Michael G.; Wright, Benjamin (2008): Service-providing occupations, offshoring, and the labor market. In: Monthly Labor Review, p. 71–86.

Muysken, Joan; Vallizadeh, Ehsan; Ziesemer, Thomas H.W. (2015): Migration, Unemployment, and Skill Downgrading. In: The Scandinavian Journal of Economics, Vol. 00, No. 0, p. 1–45.

Olney, William W. (2012): Offshoring, immigration, and the native wage distribution. In: Canadian Journal of Economics, Vol. 45, p. 830–856.

Ottaviano, Gianmarco I. P.; Peri, Giovanni; Wright, Greg C. (2013): Immigration, Offshoring and American Jobs. In: American Economic Review, Vol. 103, No. 5, p. 1925–59.

Pissarides, C. A. (2000): Equilibrium Unemployment Theory. Cambrdige, MA: MIT Press, 2nd ed..

Shapiro, C.; Stiglitz, J.E. (1984): Equilibrium unemployment as a worker discipline device. In: American Economic Review, Vol. 75, p. 433–444.

Sly, Nicholas (2012): International Productivity Differences, Trade and the Distribution of Factor Endowments. In: Review of International Economics, Vol. 20, p. 740–757.

Snower, Dennis J.; Brown, Alessio J. G.; Merkl, Christian (2009): Globalization and the Welfare State: A Review of Hans-Werner Sinn's *Can Germany Be Saved?* In: Journal of Economic Literature, Vol. 47, p. 136–158.

Spence, Michael (2011): Globalization and Unemployment: The Downside of Integrating Markets. URL http://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/67874/michael-spence/globalization-and-unemployment.

Spitz-Oener, Alexandra (2006): Technical Change, Job Tasks, and Rising Educational Demands: Looking outside the Wage Structure. In: Journal of Labour Economics, Vol. 24, p. 235–270.

Wright, Greg C. (2014): Revisiting the employment impact of offshoring. In: European Economic Review, Vol. 66, p. 63–83.

Appendix

A Cost-efficiency effect

Recall Eq. (17) and take logs to obtain

$$\ln \Omega(\cdot) = \left[\left(\int_0^{I_L} \ln \left(\frac{\beta_L(i)}{\beta_L(I_L)} \right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{I_H}^1 \ln \left(\frac{\beta_H(i)}{\beta_H(I_H)} \right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{i \in I_O} \ln \left(\frac{\zeta(i)}{\beta_O(I_O)} \right) \mathrm{d}i - \int_0^1 \ln(a_M(i)) \mathrm{d}i \right) \right].$$

Next, recall the definition of the semi-elasticities of the comparative advantage schedules

$$\varepsilon_L = -\frac{\partial \ln \beta_L(I_L)}{\partial I_L} > 0, \quad \varepsilon_H = -\frac{\partial \ln \beta_H(I_H)}{\partial I_H} > 0, \quad \frac{\partial \ln \beta_O(I_O)}{\partial I_O} = \mu > 0$$

Total differentiation w.r.t. the endogenous margins yields

$$d\ln\Omega(\cdot) = \ln\beta_L(I_L)dI_L + I_L \frac{\beta'_L(I_L)}{\beta_L(I_L)}dI_L - \ln\beta_L(I_L)dI_L - \ln\beta_H(I_H)dI_H - (1 - I_H)\frac{\beta'_H(I_H)}{\beta_H(I_H)}dI_H + \ln\beta_H(I_H)dI_H + (\ln\zeta(I_2)dI_2 - \ln\zeta(I_1)dI_1 - \ln\beta_O(I_O)dI_O) - I_O\frac{\beta'_O(I_O)}{\beta_O(I_O)}dI_O.$$

Then, taking into account that the term within the brackets is, by the positive monotone transformation, discussed in Appendix C.3, null, utilizing the definitions of semi-elasticity, and manipulating further, the total differentiation reduces to

$$d\ln\Omega(\cdot) = -I_L\varepsilon_L dI_L + (1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H dI_H - I_O \mu dI_O.$$
(A.1)

Moreover, using the comparative static results derived in Appendix E.1, we can compute the overall sign of $d \ln \Omega(\cdot)$. Utilizing Eqs. (E.2) and (E.4), the internal reallocation effect, $\mathcal{R} = (1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H \frac{dI_H}{d\omega} - I_L \varepsilon_L \frac{dI_L}{d\omega}$, can be written as

$$\mathcal{R} = \frac{\left[(1 - I_H)^2 \varepsilon_H (1 + \varepsilon_L I_L) + I_L^2 \varepsilon_L (1 + (1 - I_H) \varepsilon_H) \right]}{\alpha \omega I_L (1 - I_H) (I_H - I_L - I_O) \Delta} \\ = \frac{(1 - I_H)^2 \varepsilon_H + I_L^2 \varepsilon_L + (1 - I_H) I_L \varepsilon_H \varepsilon_L (1 - (I_H - I_L))}{\alpha \omega I_L (1 - I_H) (I_H - I_L - I_O) \Delta}.$$
(A.2)

Next, utilizing Eq. (E.2), the external reallocation effect, $\mathcal{E} = I_O \mu \frac{dI_O}{d\omega}$, can be written as

$$\mathcal{E} = \frac{I_{O}\mu \left[1 - I_{O} + \varepsilon_{H} (1 - I_{H}) [I_{H} - I_{O} + \varepsilon_{L} I_{L} (I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O})] + \varepsilon_{L} I_{L} (1 - I_{L} - I_{O}) \right]}{\alpha \omega I_{L} (1 - I_{H}) (I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O}) \Delta}.$$
 (A.3)

Now from Eqs. (A.2) and (A.3), we can derive the sufficient condition that determines the sign of $\frac{d \ln \Omega(\cdot)}{d\omega} = \mathcal{R} - \mathcal{E} \leq 0$.

$$(1 - I_H)^2 \varepsilon_H + I_L^2 \varepsilon_L + (1 - I_H) I_L \varepsilon_H \varepsilon_L (1 - (I_H - I_L)) \leq I_O \mu \bigg[1 - I_O + \varepsilon_H (1 - I_H) (I_H - I_O) + \varepsilon_L I_L (1 - I_L - I_O) \bigg] + \varepsilon_H (1 - I_H) \varepsilon_L I_L (I_H - I_L - I_O) + \varepsilon_L I_L (1 - I_L - I_O) \bigg].$$

It can be verified that for a sufficiently low substitutability (i.e. high values of μ) between medium-skilled and offshore workers the marginal cost of composite labor unambiguously declines, i.e. $\frac{d \ln \Omega(\cdot)}{d\omega} < 0$. Formally, the sufficient condition

follows from the magnitude between the third term on the right hand side and the third term on the left hand side, which yields

$$\mu > \frac{1 - (I_H - I_L)}{I_O(I_H - I_L - I_O)}.$$
(A.4)

Notice that if the sufficient condition (A.4) holds, the first two terms on the left hand side will also be dominated by the other terms on the right hand side.

B Extension: Alternative offshoring scenarios of domestic job tasks

Offshoring low-skill-intensive domestic job tasks

This section provides an analytical discussion of different stages of globalization trends. Particularly, we discuss the distributional effect when offshoring is limited to other skill segments of domestic tasks, while keeping the structure of the model unchanged. We commence with the special case as in Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008), where offshoring activities are limited to low-skill-intensive job tasks. We refer to this case as globalization trends in the past, where the burden was mainly borne by low-skilled workers in many advanced countries. We then assess the distributional effects of easier offshoring.

First, notice that domestic skill-task allocations defined by Lemma 1 still hold. Then, similar to the case of offshoring medium-skilled tasks, we impose that the task assignment between low-skilled and offshore workers will lead to offshoring of a fraction of all low-skilled job tasks in the interval $(0, I_L)$. This implies that domestic firms find it cheaper to install low-skilled workers at the lower and upper ends of all low-skill-intensive job tasks, while offshoring is cheaper somewhere in the middle. Formally, the assignment problem is defined by

$$c_O(i) \stackrel{\leq}{\scriptscriptstyle{>}} c_L(i)$$

or equivalently

$$\frac{\tau w_O}{A_O} \frac{1}{a_O(i)} \stackrel{\leq}{\leq} \frac{w_L}{A_L} \frac{1}{a_L(i)}, \quad \forall i \in I_L \setminus \tilde{I}_O.$$
(B.1)

Multiplying both sides of (B.1) by $a_M(i)$ yields the familiar structure of task productivity schedules, i.e. $\beta_L(i) = \frac{a_L(i)}{a_M(i)}$ and $\tilde{\zeta}(i) = \frac{a_M(i)}{a_O(i)}$, with the functional properties defined by Assumptions 1 and 2 in the main text. Notice the difference between the task productivity schedule $\tilde{\zeta}(i)$ (imposed here) and $\zeta(i)$ (used previously). While both have the U-shaped functional form, $\tilde{\zeta}(i)$ indicates a different location over the unit interval. To fix ideas, consider, for example, the following simple quadratic function

$$\zeta(i) = \exp[g_M(i - g_O)^2],$$

where g_M and g_O are parameters and measure the task productivity of medium-skilled and offshore workers respectively. In this example, it can be easily verified that changes in the task productivity of offshore workers (g_O) will induce a horizontal shift of $\zeta(i)$, changes in g_M affect the slope, while lower offshoring friction (i.e. higher values of $\omega \equiv \frac{A_O}{\tau w_O}$) leads to a vertical shift of $\zeta(i)/\omega$. Notice however that if the comparative advantage of offshore workers is sufficiently low (i.e. $g_O = 0$), there are no domestic low-skilled workers employed near the origin, and if they have sufficiently high task productivity (i.e. $g_O = I_L$), there are no low-skilled workers employed between the offshoring interval and the task margin I_L . Thus, as derived below, necessary conditions similar to those derived in Corollary 2 are required for which $\tilde{\zeta}(i) \in (0, I_L)$.

The necessary conditions for offshoring activities to be permitted to a sub-range of low-skilled job tasks are

$$\frac{A_L}{w_L}\beta_L(\dot{I})\tilde{\zeta}(\dot{I}) < \omega < \frac{A_L}{w_L}\beta_L(I_L)\tilde{\zeta}(I_L), \quad \text{and} \quad 0 < \tilde{I}|_{\frac{\partial \ln \tilde{\zeta}(\cdot)}{\partial i} = 0} < I_L, \tag{B.2}$$

implying that the offshoring friction is not too large (i.e. low values of $\omega = \frac{A_O}{\tau w_O}$), defined at the tangent point \dot{I} between the productivity schedules $\left|\frac{\partial \beta_L(\dot{I})}{\partial \dot{I}}\right| = \left|\frac{\partial \tilde{\zeta}(\dot{I})}{\partial \dot{I}}\right|$, such that offshoring is permitted, nor too small, avoiding that low-skilled workers lose their comparative advantage in competing with medium-skilled workers, defined by the equilibrium task margin I_L .¹⁹

¹⁹ It is important to notice that at the tangent point \dot{I} , the domestic firm is indifferent between low-skilled and offshore workers. Thus, for a positive range of offshoring low-skilled job tasks, $\dot{I}_O > 0$, the offshoring friction must be sufficiently low.

Then, given Assumptions 1 and 2, and conditions in (B.2), it follows from (B.1) that there must exist two cut-off margins, similar to Lemma 2, defining the range of offshored low-skilled job tasks, i.e. $\tilde{I}_O = \tilde{I}_2 - \tilde{I}_1$.

However, as discussed in the main text, by means of simple positive monotone transformation (see Lemma 3), we obtain

$$\frac{\tilde{\beta}_O(\tilde{I}_O)}{\omega} = \frac{w_L}{A_L},\tag{B.3}$$

where $\tilde{\beta}_O(I_O)$ is the positive monotone transformation of comparative advantage schedules $\tilde{\zeta}(\cdot)\beta_L(\cdot)$ at the new task margins, \tilde{I}_1 and \tilde{I}_2 , in terms of the offshoring range \tilde{I}_O .



Figure 5: Offshorability of low-skill-intensive job-tasks and skill-task allocation

Thus the allocation of tasks is as follows: low-skilled workers perform all tasks $i \in I_L \setminus \tilde{I}_O$ and offshore workers perform all tasks $i \in \tilde{I}_O$. The task allocations between low- and medium-skilled workers and between high- and medium-skilled workers still hold as defined in Lemma 1, where medium-skilled workers perform all tasks $i \in (I_L, I_H)$, while high-skilled workers perform all tasks $i \in [I_H, 1]$. Figure 5 provides a graphical illustration.

General equilibrium solution

Equipped with these conditions, we derive the general equilibrium closed solution as follows. From the cost-minimized first-order conditions, we obtain three equations denoting the relative medium-skilled labor demand

$$\frac{w_L}{w_M} = \frac{N_M}{N_L} \frac{I_L - I_O}{I_H - I_L}$$
(B.4)

$$\frac{w_O}{w_M} = \frac{N_M}{n_O} \frac{I_O}{I_H - I_L} \tag{B.5}$$

$$\frac{w_M}{w_H} = \frac{N_M}{N_H} \frac{I_H - I_L}{1 - I_H}.$$
(B.6)

Recall the no-arbitrage conditions (2) and (3)

$$\frac{w_L}{w_M} = \frac{A_L}{A_M} \beta_L(I_L)$$

$$\frac{w_M}{w_H} = \frac{A_M}{A_H} \beta_H(I_H).$$
(B.7)

To examine changes in the relative demand between medium-skilled and offshore workers, the no-arbitrage condition (B.3) has to be adjusted for medium-skill unit costs. Thus, dividing both sides of Eq. (B.3) by w_M and using the no-arbitrage condition at I_L , Eq. (2), we obtain

$$\frac{w_O}{w_M} = \frac{A_O}{\tau} \frac{\beta_L(I_L)}{A_M} \frac{1}{\tilde{\beta}_O(\tilde{I}_O)}.$$
(B.8)

Moreover, notice the additional endogenous variable in Eq. (B.5): n_O , i.e. the employment level of offshore workers. To account for the endogenous adjustment of offshore employment level, combine the first-order condition for offshore labor per task with the resource constraint for offshore workers to obtain

$$\frac{n_O}{\tilde{I}_O} = \frac{P_E E}{w_O} = \frac{P_E^{-\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}}\mathcal{B}}{w_O} = \frac{\mathcal{B}}{w_O} \left(\beta_L (I_L)^{-1} \frac{\tau w_O}{A_O} \tilde{\beta}_O (\tilde{I}_O) \tilde{\Omega}(\cdot)\right)^{-\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}},\tag{B.9}$$

where the second equality accounts for the adjustment in total employment $E = P_E^{-1/\alpha} \mathcal{B}$. In the third equality we utilized the modified no-arbitrage condition (B.8) together with the general equilibrium solution of the price index $P_E = \frac{w_M}{A_M} \tilde{\Omega}(\cdot)$, where

$$\tilde{\Omega}(\cdot) = \exp\left[\int_{i\in\tilde{I}_O} \ln\left(\frac{\beta_L(i)\tilde{\zeta}(i)}{\tilde{\beta}_O(\tilde{I}_O)}\right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_0^{I_L} \ln\left(\frac{\beta_L(I_L)}{\beta_L(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}i + \int_{I_H}^1 \ln\left(\frac{\beta_H(i)}{\beta_H(I_H)}\right) \mathrm{d}i - \int_0^1 \ln a_M(i) \mathrm{d}i\right].$$

Moreover, the convenient structure of the generalized common part of the marginal cost of factor labor $\tilde{\Omega}(\cdot)$ is preserved. To see this, define the semi-elasticities at the offshoring margin $\tilde{\mu} \equiv \frac{\partial \ln \tilde{\beta}_O(\tilde{I}_O)}{\partial \tilde{I}_O} > 0$. Taking the total differentiation w.r.t. the endogenous task margins yields

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{d}\ln\tilde{\Omega}(\cdot) &= \left(\ln\tilde{\zeta}(\tilde{I}_O) + \beta_L(\tilde{I}_O) - \ln\tilde{\beta}_O(\tilde{I}_O)\right) \mathrm{d}\tilde{I}_O - \tilde{I}_O\tilde{\mu}\mathrm{d}\tilde{I}_O \\ &+ \left(\ln\beta_L(I_L) - \ln\beta_L(I_L)\right) \mathrm{d}I_L - I_L\varepsilon_L\mathrm{d}I_L \\ &+ \left(\ln\beta_H(I_H) - \ln\beta_H(I_H)\right) \mathrm{d}I_H + (1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H\mathrm{d}I_H. \end{split}$$

By the positive monotone transformation the bracket in the first line is zero. The brackets in the second and third lines are also zero, yielding

$$\mathrm{d}\ln\tilde{\Omega}(\cdot) = (1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H \mathrm{d}I_H - I_L\varepsilon_L \mathrm{d}I_L - \tilde{I}_O\tilde{\mu}\mathrm{d}\tilde{I}_O. \tag{B.10}$$

Thus, similar to the discussion in the main text, the impact on the generalized marginal cost of labor can be decomposed into three terms. As shown in Eq. (B.10), the direct source of the productivity effect due to offshoring is captured by $\tilde{I}_O \tilde{\mu} d \tilde{I}_O$. The first two terms, $(1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H dI_H$ and $I_L \varepsilon_L dI_L$, allow for endogenous reallocation of domestic workers. This is what we refer to as the internal reallocation effect. Again, notice the contrast to the original task-based approach by Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008), where only the former channel is captured. Thus Eq. (B.10) can be seen as the generalization of Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008) regarding skill heterogeneity.

Next, utilize the previously derived Eqs. (B.22), (B.8) and (B.9) in the relative demand equations (B.4)–(B.6). Then, after manipulating, rearranging and taking logs, we obtain the general equilibrium closed solution for the three endogenous task margins \tilde{I}_O , I_L and I_H :

$$\ln\left(\frac{A_L N_L}{A_M N_M}\right) = -\ln\beta_L(I_L) + \ln\left(I_L - \tilde{I}_O\right) - \ln\left(I_H - I_L\right)$$

$$\ln\left(\frac{\mathcal{B}}{A_M N_M}\right) + \frac{1}{\alpha}\ln\omega = -\frac{1}{\alpha}\left(\ln\beta_L(I_L) - \ln\beta_L(\tilde{I}_O) - \ln\tilde{\beta}_O(\tilde{I}_O)\right) - \ln\left(I_H - I_L\right) + \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\ln\tilde{\Omega}((\mathbf{\beta}.11))$$

$$\frac{A_M N_M}{A_H N_H} = -\ln\beta_H(I_H) + \ln\left(I_H - I_L\right) - \ln\left(1 - I_H\right).$$

This 3×3 system of equations (B.11) can be utilized to compute the implicit solutions for the endogenous task margins due to any exogenous changes that are captured on the right hand sides.

Comparative statics: Easier offshoring and skill-task reallocation

Taking the total differentiation of the system (B.11) yields

$$\begin{pmatrix} \left(\varepsilon_L + \frac{1}{I_L - \tilde{I}_O} + \frac{1}{I_H - I_L}\right) & -\frac{1}{I_L - \tilde{I}_O} & -\frac{1}{I_H - I_L} \\ \left(\left[1 - (1 - \alpha)I_L\right]\frac{\varepsilon_L}{\alpha} + \frac{1}{I_H - I_L}\right) & \left[1 - (1 - \alpha)\tilde{I}_O\right]\frac{\tilde{\mu}}{\alpha} & \left(\frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha}(1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H - \frac{1}{I_H - I_L}\right) \\ \frac{1}{I_H - I_L} & 0 & \left(\varepsilon_H + \frac{1}{I_H - I_L} + \frac{1}{1 - I_H}\right) \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathrm{d}I_L \\ \mathrm{d}\tilde{I}_O \\ \mathrm{d}I_H \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{1}{\alpha\omega} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \mathrm{d}\omega.$$
(B.12)

Computing the determinant of the 3×3 matrix yields

$$\Delta = \frac{1}{\alpha(1 - I_H)(I_L - \tilde{I}_O)(I_H - I_L)^3} \left[\left(1 - I_L + (1 - I_H)(I_H - I_L)\varepsilon_H \right) \times \left(\tilde{\mu}(I_H - I_L) \left((I_L - \tilde{I}_O)(I_H - I_L)\varepsilon_L + (I_H - \tilde{I}_O) \right) \left(1 - (1 - \alpha)\tilde{I}_O \right) + (I_L - \tilde{I}_O)((I_H - I_L)\varepsilon_L (1 - (1 - \alpha)I_L)) \right) + \left(1 + (1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H \right) (I_L - \tilde{I}_O)(I_H - I_L)\alpha + (1 - I_H)(I_L - \tilde{I}_O) \left((1 - \alpha)(I_H - I_L) \left((1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H - \tilde{\mu}\tilde{I}_O \right) + \tilde{\mu}(I_H - I_L) \right) \right] > 0.$$

It is evident that all terms in the numerator are positive, implying that Δ is positive too. Given this result, the implicit solutions for the task margins due to easier offshoring are

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega} &= \frac{1}{\Delta} \frac{\varepsilon_H + \frac{1}{1-I_H} + \frac{1}{I_H - I_L}}{\alpha(I_H - I_L)\omega} > 0\\ \frac{\mathrm{d}\tilde{I}_O}{\mathrm{d}\omega} &= \frac{1}{\Delta} \frac{1}{\alpha(1 - I_H)(I_L - \tilde{I}_O)(I_H - I_L)^2\omega} \\ & \left[\left((1 - I_H)(I_H - I_L)\varepsilon_H + (1 - I_H) + (I_H - I_L) \right) \left((I_L - \tilde{I}_O)(I_H - I_L)\varepsilon_L + (I_L - \tilde{I}_O) + (I_H - I_L) \right) \right. \\ & \left. + (1 - I_H)(I_L - \tilde{I}_O) \right] > 0\\ \frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} &= \frac{1}{\Delta} \frac{1}{\alpha(I_H - I_L)^2\omega} > 0. \end{split}$$

The following proposition summarizes the main results.

Proposition 8 (Offshoring low-skilled job-tasks and skill-task reallocation). If offshoring activities are permitted only to low-skill-intensive job tasks, then there exists an equilibrium threshold \tilde{I}_O at which domestic firms allocate offshore workers to all tasks $i \in \tilde{I}_O$, where $0 < \tilde{I}_O < I_L < I_H < 1$. Moreover, easier offshoring ($d\omega > 0$) induces an expansion of offshorable job-tasks as well as a job-task upgrading by low- and medium-skilled workers, i.e.

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\tilde{I}_O}{\mathrm{d}\omega} > \frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega} > \frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} > 0. \tag{B.13}$$

Given these comparative statics, we can now investigate how offshoring affects both real and relative wages of domestic workers. We relegate the discussion on relative wages to the main text and focus here on real wage effects.

Offshoring low-skilled job tasks and productivity effect

To investigate the impact of offshoring low-skilled job tasks on real wages, recall the first-order conditions defining the optimal labor demand, and utilize the resource constraint conditions and the optimal demand condition for total employment, to obtain

$$w_L = \frac{I_L - \tilde{I}_O}{N_L} P_E E = \frac{I_L - \tilde{I}_O}{N_L} P_E^{-\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}} \mathcal{B}$$
$$w_M = \frac{I_H - I_L}{N_M} P_E E = \frac{I_H - I_L}{N_M} P_E^{-\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}} \mathcal{B}$$
$$w_H = \frac{1 - I_H}{N_H} P_E E = \frac{1 - I_H}{N_H} P_E^{-\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}} \mathcal{B}.$$

Next, combine the no-arbitrage condition (B.22) with the cost index of composite labor $P_E = \frac{w_M}{A_M} \tilde{\Omega}(\cdot)$ to substitute for $\frac{w_M}{A_M}$ in the inverse labor demand function of low- and high-skilled workers, respectively. Then, after further manipulation, we obtain

$$w_L = \left(\frac{I_L - \tilde{I}_O}{N_L}\right)^{\alpha} \beta_L (I_L)^{1-\alpha} \tilde{\Omega}(\cdot)^{-(1-\alpha)} A_L^{1-\alpha} \mathcal{B}^{\alpha}$$
$$w_M = \left(\frac{I_H - I_L}{N_M}\right)^{\alpha} \tilde{\Omega}(\cdot)^{-(1-\alpha)} A_M^{1-\alpha} \mathcal{B}^{\alpha}$$
$$w_H = \left(\frac{1-I_H}{N_H}\right)^{\alpha} \beta_H (I_H)^{-(1-\alpha)} \tilde{\Omega}(\cdot)^{-(1-\alpha)} A_H^{1-\alpha} \mathcal{B}^{\alpha}.$$

Taking logs and totally differentiating w.r.t. offshoring friction, the wage effect can be decomposed into the following terms:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln w_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = \left(\frac{\alpha}{I_L - \tilde{I}_O} - (1 - \alpha)\varepsilon_L\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega} + (1 - \alpha) \left(I_L \varepsilon_L \frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega} - (1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H \frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega}\right) \\ + \left((1 - \alpha)\tilde{I}_O \tilde{\mu} - \frac{\alpha}{I_L - \tilde{I}_O}\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}\tilde{I}_O}{\mathrm{d}\omega}$$
(B.14)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln w_M}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = \left(\frac{\alpha}{I_H - I_L} - (1 - \alpha)(1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H\right)\frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} + \left((1 - \alpha)I_L\varepsilon_L - \frac{\alpha}{I_H - I_L}\right)\frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega} + (1 - \alpha)\tilde{I}_O\tilde{\mu}\frac{\mathrm{d}\tilde{L}_O}{\mathrm{d}\omega} + (1 - \alpha)\tilde{L}_O\tilde{\mu}\frac{\mathrm{d}\tilde{L}_O}{\mathrm{d}\omega} + (1 - \alpha)\tilde{L}_O\tilde{\mu}\frac{\mathrm{d}\tilde{L$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln w_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = \left((1-\alpha)I_H\varepsilon_H - \frac{\alpha}{1-I_H} \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} + (1-\alpha) \left(I_L\varepsilon_L \frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega} + \tilde{I}_O\tilde{\mu} \frac{\mathrm{d}\tilde{I}_O}{\mathrm{d}\omega} \right). \tag{B.16}$$

The last term, $(1 - \alpha)\tilde{I}_O\tilde{\mu}$, in all three Eqs. (B.14)–(B.16) captures the aforementioned productivity effect. Notice that in Eq. (B.14) this productivity effect is interacting with the direct displacement effect of low-skilled workers, $\frac{\alpha}{I_L - \tilde{I}_O}$. However, comparing our results with that of Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008), the important difference becomes evident. Next to the direct offshoring-induced productivity effect, there are two additional forces: the first and second terms in Eqs. (B.14)–(B.16) capture the internal reallocation effect. The extent of this internal reallocation effect depends on the substitutability between low- and medium-skilled workers as well as between medium- and high-skilled workers, which are captured by the relative task productivity parameters (semi-elasticities) ε_L and ε_H , respectively. The following proposition summarizes the sufficient conditions.

Proposition 9 (Offshoring low-skilled job tasks and productivity effect). Given the impact of easier offshoring on the task reallocation derived in Proposition 8, an offshoring-induced cost-efficiency effect raises unambiguously the real wage of all skill groups for the sufficient conditions

1. $\varepsilon_L I_L > \varepsilon_H (1 - I_H),$

2.
$$\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\frac{1}{I_L-\tilde{I}_O} > \varepsilon_L > \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\frac{1}{I_L(I_H-I_L)}, \text{ for } \tilde{I}_O > I_L[1-(I_H-I_L)]$$

3.
$$\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\frac{1}{(1-I_H)(I_H-I_L)} > \varepsilon_H > \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}\frac{1}{I_H(1-I_H)}$$

4.
$$\tilde{\mu} > \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \frac{1}{\tilde{I}_O(I_L - \tilde{I}_O)}.$$

Proof. The sufficient condition in Part 1. follows from the second term in Eq. (B.14) and the comparative static results $\frac{dI_L}{d\omega}$ and $\frac{dI_H}{d\omega}$ in Proposition 8. It states that for sufficient low substitutability between low- and medium-skilled workers compared to substitutability between medium- and high-skilled workers in the neighborhood of I_L and I_H , respectively, offshoring-induced internal reallocation of workers is limited. If this sufficient condition holds, then the second term in Eq. (B.14) is unambiguously positive. In Part 2., the lower boundary of ε_L is computed from the second term in Eq. (B.15), while the upper boundary follows from the first term in Eq. (B.14). Thus these conditions determine the sufficient range of values of substitutability between low- and medium-skilled workers. Notice however the qualifying necessary condition in this case that requires a sufficiently large range of offshoring. If this necessary condition does not hold, than the lower boundary in Part 2. becomes binding, implying that the first term in Eq. (B.14) will have a negative sign. However, it is worth noting that, even in this case, the real wage of low-skilled workers might increase if the two other positive terms in Eq. (B.14) are sufficiently strong. In Part 3, the lower boundary is computed from the first term in Eq. (B.16), while the upper boundary follows from the first term in Eq. (B.15). Finally, in Part 4, the sufficient condition following from the last term in Eq. (B.14) requires a sufficiently low substitutability between medium-skilled and offshore workers.

Figure 6: Offshoring high-skilled job tasks and skill-task allocation



For these jointly sufficient conditions, the offshoring-induced labor supply effect on wages, characterized by the internal reallocation of domestic workers, is dominated by the overall rise in total domestic employment induced by the cost-efficiency effect due to lower offshoring frictions. This feature extends the models of Grossman/Rossi-Hansberg (2008) and Acemoglu/Autor (2011).

Offshoring high-skill-intensive domestic job tasks

As put forward in ?, many high-skill-intensive occupations might be affected by offshoring. Our framework can also be easily extended to account for this possible future development of globalization. To get an idea, we sketch the main properties followed by a graphical illustration.

In a similar vein, one can derive conditions characterizing the task allocation between offshore and high-skilled workers. Considering the example of the quadratic function from above, the convenient property of the U-shaped task productivity schedule can be seen. In this case, the rise in international competition on domestic high-skill-intensive job-tasks can be described by an improvement in task productivity of offshore workers. Formally, we state

$$\hat{\zeta}(i) = \exp[g_M(i - \hat{g}_O)^2],$$

where now $\hat{g}_O > g_O > \tilde{g}_O > 0$. Thus the U-shaped curve moves rightwards along the unit interval. Figure 6 provides a graphical illustration.

Similar to the case of offshoring low-skilled job tasks, the task assignment between offshore and high-skilled workers will lead to unbundling of a fraction of high-skilled job tasks. This implies again that high-skilled workers are relatively cheaper in producing job tasks in the neighborhoods of I_H and 1, while offshore workers are cheaper somewhere in the middle. Formally, the assignment problem can be written as

$$c_O(i) \leq c_H(i)$$

or equivalently

$$\frac{\tau w_O}{A_O} \frac{1}{a_O(i)} \stackrel{\leq}{\leq} \frac{w_H}{A_H} \frac{1}{a_H(i)}, \quad \forall i \in (I_H, 1).$$
(B.17)

Now, by a simple transformation, i.e. multiplying both sides in Eq. (B.17) by $a_M(i)$, we obtain the task productivity schedules, $\beta_H(i) = \frac{a_M(i)}{a_H(i)}$ and $\hat{\zeta}(i) = \frac{a_M(i)}{a_O(i)}$, with the same properties defined by Assumptions 1 and 2. Again the structure of the model is preserved. Now the necessary conditions for offshoring to be permitted to a subrange of high-skilled job tasks are

$$\frac{A_H}{w_H}\beta_H(\ddot{I})^{-1}\hat{\zeta}(\ddot{I}) < \omega < \frac{A_H}{w_H}\beta_H(I_H)^{-1}\hat{\zeta}(I_H), \quad \text{and} \quad I_H < \hat{I}|_{\frac{\partial \ln \hat{\zeta}(\cdot)}{\partial i} = 0} < 1, \tag{B.18}$$

implying that the offshoring friction is not too large (i.e. low values of $\omega = \frac{A_O}{\tau w_O}$), defined at the tangent point \dot{I} between the productivity schedules $\left|\frac{\partial \beta_H(\ddot{I})}{\partial \ddot{I}}\right| = \left|\frac{\partial \tilde{\zeta}(\ddot{I})}{\partial \ddot{I}}\right|$, such that offshoring is permitted, nor too small, so that high-skilled workers do

not lose their comparative advantage in competing with medium-skilled workers, defined by the task margin I_H . Then, given the assumptions and properties in (B.18), it follows from (B.17) that there must exist two cut-off margins defining the range of offshored high-skill-intensive job tasks (\hat{I}_O). By means of simple positive monotone transformation, this no-arbitrage condition is given by

$$\frac{\hat{\beta}_O(\hat{I}_O)}{\omega} = \frac{w_H}{A_H},\tag{B.19}$$

where $\hat{\beta}_O(\cdot)$ denotes the positive monotone transformation of relative task productivity schedules $\frac{\hat{\zeta}(\cdot)}{\beta_H(\cdot)}$ at the new task margins, \hat{I}_1 and \hat{I}_2 , in terms of the offshoring range \hat{I}_O .

Notice again that the no-arbitrage conditions defining the domestic allocation of tasks to skills are preserved by Lemma 1. Thus the allocation of tasks across the different types of labor is as follows: low-skilled workers perform all tasks $i \in I_L$, medium-skilled workers perform all tasks $i \in (I_H - I_L)$, high-skilled workers perform all tasks $i \in (1 - I_H - \hat{I}_O)$, and offshore workers perform all tasks $i \in \hat{I}_O$; see Figure 5 for these equilibrium allocations.

Offshoring and domestic income distribution effect

For the computation of the relative wage effects of offshoring, discussed in the main text, we need to adjust the relative labor demand between high- and medium-skilled workers for the range of offshoring \hat{I}_O . This follows from the new resource constraint for high-skilled workers and from the cost-minimized first-order conditions, from which the relative medium-skilled labor demand functions can be derived

$$\frac{w_L}{w_M} = \frac{N_M}{N_L} \frac{I_L}{I_H - I_L} \tag{B.20}$$

$$\frac{w_M}{w_H} = \frac{N_M}{N_H} \frac{I_H - I_L}{1 - I_H - \hat{I}_O}.$$
(B.21)

Recall the no-arbitrage conditions (2) and (3)

$$\frac{w_L}{w_M} = \frac{A_L}{A_M} \beta_L(I_L)$$

$$\frac{w_M}{w_H} = \frac{A_M}{A_H} \beta_H(I_H).$$
(B.22)

This set of Eqs. (B.20), (B.21) and (B.22) can be utilized to assess the impact of a marginal decline of offshoring friction on the relative domestic wages. For an intuitive and graphical discussion we refer the reader to discussion in section 5.2 in the main text.

Supplementary Mathematical Appendix

C Proofs of Lemmata

C.1 Proof of Lemma 1

Proof. We proceed as follows. A task is allocated to a low-skilled worker rather than to a medium-skilled worker as long as

$$\begin{array}{rcl} c_L(i) &\leq & c_M(i) \\ \Leftrightarrow \frac{w_L}{A_L a_L(i)} &\leq & \frac{w_M}{A_M a_M(i)} \\ \Leftrightarrow \frac{w_L}{A_L} \frac{a_M(i)}{a_L(i)} &\leq & \frac{w_M}{A_M}, \end{array}$$

which, by Assumption 1, leads to Eq. (2) in Lemma 1 with $\beta_L(I_L) = \frac{a_M(I_L)}{a_L(I_L)}$. Similarly, tasks are allocated to mediumskilled workers as long as they are more productive relative to high-skilled workers. That is,

$$\begin{array}{rcl} c_M(i) & \leq & c_H(i) \\ \Leftrightarrow \frac{w_M}{A_M a_M(i)} & \leq & \frac{w_H}{A_H a_H(i)} \\ \Leftrightarrow \frac{w_M}{A_M} & \leq & \frac{a_M(i)}{a_H(i)} \frac{w_H}{A_H}, \end{array}$$

which, by Assumption 1, leads to Eq. (3) in Lemma 1 with $\beta_H(I_H) = \frac{a_M(I_H)}{a_H(I_H)}$. Finally, with a similar argument firms allocate tasks between low and high skills according to

$$c_L(i) \leq c_H(i)$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \frac{w_L}{A_L a_L(i)} \leq \frac{w_H}{A_H a_H(i)}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \frac{w_L}{A_L} \frac{a_M(i)}{a_L(i)} \leq \frac{a_M(i)}{a_H(i)} \frac{w_H}{A_H},$$

where, in the third inequality, we multiplied both sides by $a_M(i)$. By Assumption 1, we obtain Eq. (4) in Lemma 1 with $\beta_L(\tilde{I}) = \frac{a_M(\tilde{I})}{a_L(\tilde{I})}$ and $\beta_H(\tilde{I}) = \frac{a_M(\tilde{I})}{a_H(\tilde{I})}$.

C.2 Proof of Lemma 2

Similar to the discussion in Lemma 1, the allocation decision in Lemma 2 is based on cost efficiency. However, notice that by Assumption 2 there is a non-linear relationship between the unit costs of medium-skilled and offshore workers. Formally, the allocation problem can be written as

$$\begin{array}{rcl} c_M(i) & \lneq & c_O(i) \\ \Leftrightarrow \frac{w_M}{A_M a_M(i)} & \lneq & \frac{\tau w_O}{A_O a_O(i)} \\ \Leftrightarrow \frac{w_M}{A_M} & & \frac{\zeta(i)}{\omega}, \end{array}$$

where $\frac{\partial \zeta(i)}{\partial i} < 0$, $\forall i < \check{I} |_{\frac{\partial \zeta(i)}{\partial i} = 0}$ and $\frac{\partial \zeta(i)}{\partial i} > 0$, $\forall i > \check{I} |_{\frac{\partial \zeta(i)}{\partial i} = 0}$. Thus, by the jointly necessary conditions in Corollary 2 there must exist two cut-off points at which $c_M(\cdot) - c_O(\cdot) = 0$. These are defined by (5) and (6), where

$$\begin{array}{ll} \displaystyle \frac{w_M}{A_M} & < & \displaystyle \frac{\zeta(i)}{\omega}, \quad \forall \, i < I_1 \text{ and } i > I_2 \\ \displaystyle \frac{w_M}{A_M} & > & \displaystyle \frac{\zeta(i)}{\omega}, \quad \forall \, i \in (I_1, I_2). \end{array}$$

The boundaries on ω in Corollary 2 defined as follows. The lower boundary follows from

$$c_O(\check{I}) < c_M(\check{I})$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \frac{A_M}{w_M} \zeta(\check{I}) \quad < \quad \omega,$$

with \check{I} denoting the minimum point of $\zeta(i)$, i.e. $\frac{\partial \zeta(i)}{\partial i} = 0$. In a similar vein, one can derive the upper boundaries, respectively, at the low- and high-skill-extensive margins, i.e. $c_O(I_L) > c_M(I_L)$ and $c_O(I_H) > c_M(I_H)$. Note again that the lower boundaries ensure that offshored job-tasks are a subset of the overall medium skill-intensive range of tasks, i.e. $(I_1, I_2) \in (I_L, I_H)$.

C.3 Proof of Lemma 3

To keep the analytical analysis tractable, it is useful to look at changes in the offshoring interval, which reflect implicitly changes in the extensive offshoring margins, I_1 and I_2 . In fact, all we need to show is how an endogenous change in the length of offshoring interval affects the domestic job-task margins, I_L and I_H . Thus we need to find a condition that satisfies the no-arbitrage condition between medium-skilled and offshore workers for the length of the offshoring interval (I_O) , accounting implicitly for the two endogenous offshoring cut-off points I_1 and I_2 .

First, define $\tilde{w}_M\equiv \frac{w_M\omega}{A_M}$ after recalling the two no-arbitrage conditions (5) and (6)

$$\tilde{w}_M = \zeta(I_1),$$

 $\tilde{w}_M = \zeta(I_2),$

and the definition of the length of offshoring interval

$$I_O = I_2 - I_1.$$

Next, recall the semi-elasticities at the two extensive offshoring margins, i.e. $\varepsilon_1 = -\frac{\partial \ln \zeta(I_1)}{\partial I_1} > 0$ and $\varepsilon_2 = \frac{\partial \ln \zeta(I_2)}{\partial I_2} > 0$. Taking the total differentiation, we obtain

$$d \ln \tilde{w}_M = -\varepsilon_1 dI_1, d \ln \tilde{w}_M = \varepsilon_2 dI_2, dI_O = dI_2 - dI_1$$

Utilizing the first two equations in the last one yields

$$\mathrm{d}I_O = \mathrm{d}\ln\tilde{w}_M\left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon_2} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon_1}\right).$$

It is convenient to define $\mu = \frac{\varepsilon_2 \varepsilon_1}{\varepsilon_2 + \varepsilon_1} > 0$, which is increasing in both arguments. Then, after further manipulation, we obtain

$$\mathrm{d}\ln \tilde{w}_M = \mu \mathrm{d}I_O.$$

This is a simple first-order linear homogeneous ordinary differential equation. Thus, by integration

$$\int \mathrm{d}\ln \tilde{w}_M \mathrm{d}i = \int \mu \mathrm{d}I_O \mathrm{d}i,$$

we obtain a unique solution

$$\frac{w_M}{A_M} = \frac{\beta_O(I_O)}{\omega},$$

where $\beta_O(I_O) = \exp[\mu I_O]$.

D Firm's optimization problem

Optimal labor demand

Utilizing (8) in (10), then the Lagrangian to the cost-minimizing problem (12) is read as follows:

$$\mathcal{L} = \left[w_L \int_0^{I_L} l_L(i) di + w_M \int_{i \in S_{\mathcal{M}}} l_M(i) di + w_O \int_{i \in I_O} l_O(i) di + w_H \int_{I_H}^1 l_H(i) di \right]$$

+ $\lambda \left[E - \exp\left[\int_0^{I_L} \ln(A_L a_L(i) l_L(i)) di + \int_{i \in S_{\mathcal{M}}} \ln(A_M a_M(i) l_M(i)) di \right]$
+ $\int_{i \in I_O} \ln(A_O a_O(i) l_O(i) / \tau) di + \int_{I_H}^1 \ln(A_H a_H(i) l_H(i)) di \right] ,$

where λ is the Lagrangian multiplier. The first-order conditions w.r.t. $l_k(i)$, $k = \{L, M, H, O\}$, and E are, respectively, given:

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial l_L(i)} = w_L - \lambda \frac{E}{l_L(i)} = 0, \Rightarrow l_L(i) = l_L(i') = l_L, \forall i \in [0, I_L]$$
(D.23)

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial l_M(i)} = w_M - \lambda \frac{E}{l_M(i)} = 0, \Rightarrow l_M(i) = l_M(i') = l_M, \ \forall i \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{M}}$$
(D.24)

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial l_H(i)} = w_H - \lambda \frac{E}{l_H(i)} = 0, \Rightarrow l_H(i) = l_H(i') = l_H, \forall i \in [I_H, 1]$$
(D.25)

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial l_O(i)} = w_O - \lambda \frac{E}{l_O(i)} = 0, \Rightarrow l_O(i) = l_O(i') = l_O, \forall i \in I_O.$$
(D.26)

The first-order conditions (D.23)–(D.26) indicate that the marginal productivity of workers across the respective range of tasks is similar and thus the required number of workers per task does not vary across the respective range of tasks. Utilizing these conditions in the constraint (10) and rearranging, we obtain

$$\lambda = \exp\left[\int_{0}^{I_{L}} \ln\left(\frac{w_{L}}{A_{L}a_{L}(i)}\right) di + \int_{i \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{M}}} \ln\left(\frac{w_{M}}{A_{M}a_{M}(i)}\right) di$$

$$+ \int_{i \in I_{O}} \ln\left(\frac{\tau w_{O}}{A_{O}a_{O}(i)}\right) di + \int_{I_{H}}^{1} \ln\left(\frac{w_{H}}{A_{H}a_{H}(i)}\right) di\right].$$
(D.27)

By the envelope theorem, the marginal (average) cost of the labor composite is denoted by the shadow price, i.e. $\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial E} = \lambda$. Thus, under perfect competition, the marginal cost equals the cost index of composite labor mentioned in the text, i.e. $P_E = \lambda$.

E General equilibrium solution for changes in task margins

E.1 Comparative statics for changes in offshoring

Utilizing these observations and taking the total differentiation of the 3×3 system of equations in (22) w.r.t. ω , yields

$$\begin{pmatrix} \left(\frac{1}{I_L} + \varepsilon_L + \frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O}\right) & \frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} & -\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} \\ \left(\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} - \frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha} I_L \varepsilon_L\right) & \left(\left[1 - (1 - \alpha)I_O\right]\frac{\mu}{\alpha} + \frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O}\right) & \left(\frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha}(1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H - \frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O}\right) \\ -\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} & -\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} & \left(\frac{1}{1 - I_H} + \varepsilon_H + \frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O}\right) \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathrm{d}I_L \\ \mathrm{d}I_O \\ \mathrm{d}I_H \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{1}{\alpha\omega} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \mathrm{d}\omega.$$
 (E.1)

Computing the determinant of the 3×3 matrix, we obtain

$$\Delta_{3\times3} = \frac{1}{\alpha(1-I_H)I_L(I_H-I_L-I_O)} \begin{bmatrix} \alpha + I_L\varepsilon_L(\alpha + \mu(1-I_L-I_O)(1-(1-\alpha)I_O) + (1-\alpha)I_L) + \mu(1-(1-\alpha)I_O)(1-I_O) \\ + (1-I_H)\varepsilon_H\left(1-(1-\alpha)I_H + I_L\varepsilon_L\left[1-(1-\alpha)(I_H-I_L) + \mu M(1-(1-\alpha)I_O)\right] + \mu(I_H-I_O)(1-(1-\alpha)I_O)\right) \end{bmatrix} > 0.$$

Given the positive sign of the determinant Δ and applying Cramer's Rule, the solution to the 3 \times 3 system (E.1) yields the following effects on the task margins:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = -\frac{1+\varepsilon_H\left(1-I_H\right)}{\alpha\omega\left(1-I_H\right)\left(I_H-I_L-I_O\right)}\frac{1}{\Delta} < 0 \tag{E.2}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}I_O}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = \frac{1 - I_O + \varepsilon_H \left(1 - I_H\right) \left[I_H - I_O + \varepsilon_L I_L \left(I_H - I_L - I_O\right)\right] + \varepsilon_L \left(1 - I_L - I_O\right) I_L}{\alpha \omega \left(1 - I_H\right) I_L \left(I_H - I_L - I_O\right) \Delta} > 0 \tag{E.3}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = \frac{1 + \varepsilon_L I_L}{\alpha \omega I_L \left(I_H - I_L - I_O\right)} \frac{1}{\Delta} > 0.$$
(E.4)

Moreover, it can be verified that

$$\left| \frac{\mathrm{d}I_O}{\mathrm{d}\omega} \right| > \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} \right| + \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega} \right|$$

$$\Rightarrow 1 - I_O + \varepsilon_H (1 - I_H) [I_H - I_O + \varepsilon_L I_L (I_H - I_L - I_O)] + \varepsilon_L (1 - I_L - I_O) I_L > (1 - I_H) (1 + \varepsilon_L I_L) + I_L (1 + \varepsilon_H (1 - I_H))$$

$$\Rightarrow (1 + \varepsilon_H (1 - I_H)) (1 + \varepsilon_L I_L) > 0.$$
 (E.5)

E.2 Comparative statics for changes in minimum wage

Take the total differentiation of the 3×3 system of equations (37) w.r.t. to the minimum wage \bar{W} , and rearrange to obtain

$$\begin{pmatrix} \left(\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} + \frac{(1 - (1 - \alpha)I_L)\varepsilon_L}{\alpha}\right) & \left(\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} - \frac{(1 - \alpha)\mu I_O}{\alpha}\right) & \left(\frac{(1 - \alpha)(1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O}\right) \\ \left(\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} - \frac{(1 - \alpha)I_L\varepsilon_L}{\alpha}\right) & \left(\frac{\mu(1 - (1 - \alpha)I_O)}{\alpha} + \frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O}\right) & \left(\frac{(1 - \alpha)(1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O}\right) \\ -\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} & -\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} & \left(\varepsilon_H + \frac{1}{1 - I_H} + \frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O}\right) \\ \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} dI_L \\ dI_O \\ dI_H \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{1}{\alpha W} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} dW.$$
(E.6)

(E.7)

Computing the determinant of the 3×3 matrix, we obtain

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{3\times3} = \frac{1}{\alpha^2 (1 - I_H) (I_H - I_L - I_O)} \\ [\alpha \mu + \varepsilon_H (1 - I_H) (\varepsilon_L [I_H (-1 + \alpha + \mu [1 - (1 - \alpha) (I_L + I_O)]) - \mu (I_L + I_O) [1 - (1 - \alpha) (I_L + I_O)] + 1] + \mu [1 - (1 - \alpha) I_H]) \\ + \varepsilon_L (\alpha + \mu (1 - (I_L + I_O) [1 + (1 - \alpha) (1 - (I_L + I_O)])] > 0.$$

Given the positive sign of $\tilde{\Delta}$ and applying Cramer's Rule, the solution to the 3×3 system (E.6) yields

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\mathrm{d}I_L}{\mathrm{d}\bar{W}} &= -\frac{1}{\tilde{\Delta}} \frac{1}{\alpha^2 \bar{W} (1 - I_H) (I_H - I_L - I_O)} \\ &\quad (\alpha - \mu I_L (1 - \varepsilon_H (1 - I_H)) (1 - (1 - \alpha)I_O) - \varepsilon_H (1 - I_H) [-I_H (\alpha + \mu + (\alpha - 1)\mu I_O - 1) + \mu I_O (1 - (1 - \alpha)I_O) - 1] \\ &\quad + \mu (1 - I_O) [1 - (1 - \alpha)I_O]) < 0 \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}I_O}{\mathrm{d}\bar{W}} &= \frac{1}{\tilde{\Delta}} \frac{1}{\alpha^2 \bar{W} (1 - I_H) (I_H - I_L - I_O)} \\ &\quad [\alpha + \varepsilon_H (1 - I_H) [1 + (1 - \alpha) (I_H + \varepsilon_L I_L (I_H - I_L - I_O))] - (1 - \alpha)\varepsilon_L I_L (1 - (I_L + I_O))] > 0 \end{aligned}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d} I_H}{\mathrm{d} \bar{W}} \quad = \quad -\frac{1}{\tilde{\Delta}} \frac{\mu (1 - (1 - \alpha) I_O) + (1 - \alpha) \varepsilon_L I_L}{\alpha^2 \bar{W} \left(I_H - I_L - I_O \right)} < 0.$$

E.3 Comparative statics for changes in offshoring under minimum wage scheme

To compute the impact of easier offshoring on the equilibrium task margins, take the total differentiation of the 3×3 system (37) w.r.t. the offshoring parameter ω , and rearrange to obtain

$$\begin{pmatrix} \left(\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} + \frac{(1 - (1 - \alpha)I_L)\varepsilon_L}{\alpha}\right) & \left(\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} - \frac{(1 - \alpha)\mu I_O}{\alpha}\right) & \left(\frac{(1 - \alpha)(1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O}\right) \\ \left(\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} - \frac{(1 - \alpha)I_L\varepsilon_L}{\alpha}\right) & \left(\frac{\mu(1 - (1 - \alpha)I_O)}{\alpha} + \frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O}\right) & \left(\frac{(1 - \alpha)(1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O}\right) \\ -\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} & -\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O} & \left(\varepsilon_H + \frac{1}{1 - I_H} + \frac{1}{I_H - I_L - I_O}\right) \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} dI_L \\ dI_O \\ dI_H \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{1}{\alpha\omega} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} d\omega.$$
(E.8)

Given the positive sign of the determinant matrix on the left hand side, derived in Eq. (E.7), and applying Cramer's Rule, the solution to the 3 × 3 system (E.8), we obtain the following solutions of the comparative statics:

$$\frac{dI_L}{d\omega} = -\frac{1}{\tilde{\Delta}} \frac{1}{\alpha^2 \omega (1 - I_H) (I_H - I_L - I_O)} \\ \alpha - (1 - \alpha) \mu I_O (\varepsilon_H (1 - I_H) (I_H - I_L) + 1 - I_L) + (1 - \alpha) \mu I_O^2 (1 + (1 - I_H) \varepsilon_H) + \varepsilon_H (1 - I_H) (1 - (1 - \alpha) I_H) \\ \frac{dI_O}{d\omega} = -\frac{1}{\tilde{\Delta}} \frac{1}{\alpha^2 \omega (I_H - 1) (I_H - I_L - I_O)} \\ [\alpha + \varepsilon_H (1 - I_H) (\varepsilon_L (1 - (1 - \alpha) I_L) (I_H - I_L - I_O) + 1 - (1 - \alpha) I_H) + \varepsilon_L (1 - I_L - I_O) (1 - (1 - \alpha) I_L)] > 0$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d} I_H}{\mathrm{d} \omega} \quad = \quad \frac{1}{\tilde{\Delta}} \frac{\varepsilon_L \left(1-(1-\alpha)I_L\right)+(1-\alpha)\mu I_O}{\alpha^2 \omega \left(I_H-I_L-I_O\right)} > 0.$$

E.4 Comparative statics for changes in offshoring under endogenous low-skilled labor supply

Recall the 4×4 system of equations (42). Taking total differentiation w.r.t. ω , we obtain

$$\begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon_{L} + \frac{1}{I_{L}} + \frac{1}{I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O}} & \frac{1}{I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O}} & -\frac{1}{I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O}} & \frac{1}{1 - u_{L}} \\ \frac{1}{I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O}} - \frac{(1 - \alpha)I_{L}\varepsilon_{L}}{\alpha} & \frac{\mu(1 - (1 - \alpha)I_{O})}{\alpha} + \frac{1}{I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O}} & \frac{(1 - \alpha)(1 - I_{H})\varepsilon_{H}}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O}} & 0 \\ -\frac{1}{I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O}} & -\frac{1}{I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O}} & \varepsilon_{H} + \frac{1}{1 - I_{H}} + \frac{1}{I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O}} & 0 \\ (1 - \alpha)(1 - I_{L})\varepsilon_{L} - \frac{\alpha}{I_{L}} & -(1 - \alpha)I_{O}\mu & (1 - \alpha)(1 - I_{H})\varepsilon_{H} & -\left(\frac{\alpha}{1 - u_{L}} + \frac{\delta}{u_{L}}\right) \end{pmatrix} \times \begin{pmatrix} dI_{L} \\ dI_{O} \\ dI_{H} \\ du_{L} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{1}{\alpha\omega} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} d\omega.$$
 (E.9)

Computing the determinant of the matrix yields

$$\begin{split} \dot{\Delta}_{4\times4} &= -\frac{1}{\alpha(1-I_H)I_L(I_H-I_L-I_O)(1-u_L)u_L} \\ & \left(\tilde{\delta}\Big[\alpha+I_L\varepsilon_L[\alpha+\mu(1-I_L-I_O)(1-(1-\alpha)P)+(1-\alpha)I_L]+\mu(1-(1-\alpha)I_O)(1-I_O) \\ & +(1-I_H)\varepsilon_H\left(I_L\varepsilon_L[1-(1-\alpha)(I_H-I_L)+\mu(I_H-I_L-I_O)(1-(1-\alpha)I_O)]+\mu(I_H-I_O)(1-(1-\alpha)I_O)-(1-\alpha)I_H)\right) \\ & +I_Lu_L\Big[\alpha\mu+\varepsilon_L[\mu(1-I_L-I_O)(1-(1-\alpha)(I_L+I_O))+\alpha] \\ & +(1-I_H)\varepsilon_H\left(\mu(1-(1-\alpha)I_H)+\varepsilon_L[1-(1-\alpha)I_H+\mu(I_H-I_L-I_O)(1-(1-\alpha)(I_L+I_O))]\right)\Big] \right) < 0. \end{split}$$

All four terms in the numerator are positive and thus $\dot{\tilde{\Delta}} < 0$. Given the negative sign of $\dot{\tilde{\Delta}}$ and applying Cramer's Rule, the solution to the 4×4 system (E.9) yields the following unambiguous effects on

the low-skilled job-task margin

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}I_{L}}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = \frac{1}{\dot{\Delta}} \frac{1}{\alpha\omega (1 - I_{H}) (1 - u_{L}) u_{L} (I_{H} - I_{L} - I_{O})} \left[\tilde{\delta} + u_{L} \left(\alpha + (\alpha - 1)\mu I_{O} (\varepsilon_{H} (1 - I_{H}) (I_{H} - I_{L}) + 1 - I_{L}) + (1 - \alpha)\mu I_{O}^{2} (1 + \varepsilon_{H} (1 - I_{H})) + \varepsilon_{H} (1 - I_{H}) (1 - (1 - \alpha)I_{H}) \right) + \varepsilon_{H} \tilde{\delta} (1 - I_{H}) \right] < 0$$
(E.10)

the offshoring job-task margin

$$\frac{dI_O}{d\omega} = -\frac{1}{\tilde{\Delta}} \frac{1}{\alpha \omega (1 - I_H) I_L (1 - u_L) u_L (I_H - I_L - I_O)} \left[\alpha I_L u_L + \tilde{\delta} [1 - I_O (1 + \varepsilon_H (1 - I_H))] + \varepsilon_H (1 - I_H) \left(I_L u_L (1 - (1 - \alpha)I_H) + \tilde{\delta}I_H \right) + \varepsilon_L I_L \left[\varepsilon_H (1 - I_H) (I_H - I_L - I_O) + 1 - I_L - I_O \right] \left(\tilde{\delta} + (1 - (1 - \alpha)I_L) u_L \right) \right] > 0.$$
(E.11)

the high-skilled job-task margin

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}I_H}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = -\frac{1}{\dot{\Delta}} \frac{I_L \left[\mu u_L I_O(1-\alpha) + \varepsilon_L \left(\tilde{\delta} + u_L \left(1 - (1-\alpha)I_L \right) \right) \right] + \tilde{\delta}}{\alpha \omega I_L \left(1 - u_L \right) u_L \left(I_H - I_L - I_O \right)} > 0 \tag{E.12}$$

50

the low-skilled unemployment rate

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u_{L}}{\mathrm{d}\omega} = -\frac{1}{\dot{\Delta}} \frac{1}{\alpha(1-I_{H})I_{L}(I_{H}-I_{L}-I_{O})\omega} \left[\alpha + (1-I_{H})\varepsilon_{H} \left(1-(1-\alpha)[I_{H}+\mu I_{O}(I_{H}-I_{O})]\right) - (1-\alpha)I_{L}\varepsilon_{L} \left((1-I_{H})\varepsilon_{H}[I_{H}-I_{L}+\mu(I_{H}-I_{L}-I_{O})I_{O}] + \mu I_{O}(1-I_{L}-I_{O}) + 1 - I_{L}\right) - (1-\alpha)\mu I_{O}(1-I_{O})\right] \leq 0$$
(E.13)

To determine the sign of $\frac{\mathrm{d}u_L}{\mathrm{d}\omega}$, notice first the following limiting case, when offshoring is strongly limited, such that $I_O \rightarrow 0$. Then, the term in the square brackets reduces to

$$\alpha + (1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H - \left((1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H(1 - \alpha)I_H + (1 - \alpha)I_L\varepsilon_L(1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H(I_H - I_L) + (1 - \alpha)I_L\varepsilon_L(1 - I_L)\right),\tag{E.14}$$

where only the first two terms are positive. Thus, as offshoring becomes easier, the terms in the brackets become larger. However, we can define sufficient conditions so that (E.13) is always negative, irrespective of the level of offshoring. The first condition follows from the interaction between α and the first term within the brackets in (E.14):

$$\varepsilon_H > \frac{\alpha}{(1-\alpha)I_H(1-I_H)}$$

The second condition follows from the interaction between $(1 - I_H)\varepsilon_H$ and the second term in (E.14)

$$\varepsilon_L > \frac{1}{(1-\alpha)I_L(I_H - I_L)}$$

The intuition behind this condition is provided in the main text; see discussion of Proposition 7.

F Proof of Proposition 1: Uniqueness of Task Margins

To verify the uniqueness of the equilibrium task margins, we discuss the equilibrium properties of the domestic task margins from system (21). The proof of the claim regarding uniqueness of offshoring margins needs further elaboration. We commence with the equilibrium characteristics of the margins I_L and I_H .

Uniqueness of domestic task margins

From (21a), we can rearrange so that

$$I_{H} = (I_{2} - I_{1}) + (1 + \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{L}}\beta_{L}(I_{L})) I_{L} \equiv I_{O} + \mathcal{F}_{L}(I_{L}).$$
(21a')

Analogously, (21c) can be rearranged so that

$$I_L = -(I_2 - I_1) + I_H - \mathcal{A}_H \beta_H (I_H) (1 - I_H) \equiv -I_O + \mathcal{F}_H (I_H),$$
(21c')

where $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{L}} \equiv \frac{A_M N_M}{A_L N_L}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{H}} \equiv \frac{A_M N_M}{A_H N_H}$ summarize the exogenous labor-augmenting technology and labor endowment variables. Therefore Eqs. (21a') and (21c') highlight the general equilibrium relation between I_L and I_H for any given value of $I_O \in (I_L, I_H)$. Hence any changes in the offshoring extensive margins will shift (21a') and (21c'), while changes in I_L and I_H , captured by $\mathcal{F}_k(\cdot)$, $k = \{L, H\}$, affect the slope. To verify the single-crossing between Eqs. (21a') and (21c'), we need to examine the properties of the slope of the two curves.

Consider first the properties of Eq. (21a'). It can be shown that I_H is monotonically increasing in I_L . Recalling the property $\beta'_L(I_L) > 0$, then the first derivative implies

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{F}_L}{\partial I_L} = 1 + \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{L}}[\beta_L(I_L) + \beta'_L(I_L)I_L] > 0,$$

indicating that the slope of (21a') is larger than unity.

Moreover, it indicates that the increase at the low-skill-intensive task margin is accompanied by a reduction of high-skill-intensive tasks, i.e. lower $(1 - I_H)$. Intuitively, this implies that the tasks previously performed by medium-skilled workers at I_L are now produced by low-skilled workers. This induces an excess of the medium-skilled labor supply due to the Walrasian nature of the labor markets. Thus medium-skilled wages will decline, so that they become more competitive at the high-skill-extensive task margin I_H . This is then accompanied by increase in I_H .

The monotonic relation between I_L and I_H depends on the properties of the second derivative, which in turn depends on the functional properties of the productivity schedule $\beta_L(\cdot)$. To examine these properties, we proceed as follows. Let $\beta_L(i)$ be a homogeneous function of degree $1 \ge \lambda_L > 0$, indicating a concave function. Then, it is generally valid $|\beta'_L(i)| > |\beta''_L(i)|$. If, on the other hand, $\beta_L(i)$ is homogeneous of degree $\lambda_L > 1$ (indicating a convex function), then $0 < \beta'_L(i) < \beta''_L(i)$. Thus, for any functional property of $\beta_L(\cdot)$, the second derivative yields $\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{F}_L}{\partial I_L^2} = \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{L}}(2\beta'_L(I_L) + \beta''_L(I_L)I_L) > 0$. This indicates that \mathcal{F}_L is monotonically increasing in I_L . Furthermore, computing the limits of \mathcal{F}_L over the range defined by Corollaries 1 and 2, yields

$$\lim_{I_L \to 0} \mathcal{F}_L = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \lim_{I_L \to 0} I_H = I_2 - I_1 = I_O$$

$$\lim_{I_L \to I_1} \mathcal{F}_L = I_1 + \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{L}} \beta_L(I_1) I_1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \lim_{I_L \to I_1} I_H = I_2 + \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{L}} \beta_L(I_1) I_1.$$
(F.15)

Next consider Eq. (21c'). Similarly, it can be verified that I_L is monotonically increasing in I_H , again for any (fixed) values of $I_O \in (I_L, I_H)$. Recall the property $\beta'_H(I_H) < 0$, then formally

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{F}_H}{\partial I_H} = 1 + \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{H}}[\beta_H(I_H) - \beta'_H(I_H)(1 - I_H)] > 0,$$

implying a slope of (21c') larger than unity. In a similar vein, if $\beta_H(i)$ is homogeneous of degree $-1 < \lambda_H < 0$ (i.e. a concave functional form), then $\beta_H'(i) < \beta_H'(i) < 0$. If $\beta_H(i)$ is a homogeneous function of degree $\lambda_H < -1$ (indicating a convex functional form), then $\beta_H'(i) < 0 < \beta_H''(i)$. Thus, computing the second derivative yields $\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{F}_H}{\partial I_H^2} = \mathcal{A}_H(2\beta_H'(I_H) - 1)$

 $\beta_H''(I_H)(1-I_H)) < 0$. Similarly, computing the limits of \mathcal{F}_H over the range defined by Corollaries 1 and 2, we get

$$\lim_{I_H \to I_2} \mathcal{F}_H = I_2 - \mathcal{A}_H \beta_H (I_2)(1 - I_2) \quad \Rightarrow \quad \lim_{I_H \to I_2} I_L = -(\mathcal{A}_H \beta_H (I_2)(1 - I_2) - I_1)$$

$$\lim_{I_H \to 1} \mathcal{F}_H = 1 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \lim_{I_H \to 1} I_L = 1 - (I_2 - I_1).$$
(F.16)

Utilizing the properties of \mathcal{F}_L and \mathcal{F}_H derived in (F.15) and (F.16), we can depict Eqs. (21a') and (21c') in the (I_L , I_H)-space. The graphical illustration in Figure 7 reveals the single crossing between the two curves for all values within the bounded intervals.

Obviously, if the offshoring range becomes very large such that $I_O \notin (I_L, I_H)$, then the intersection of the two curves, given by Eqs. (21a') and (21c'), will be off the unit interval. More precisely, an increase in $I_O = (I_2 - I_1)$ induces a



Figure 7: Unique equilibrium of low- and high-skilled task margins

parallel left-ward shift in the two curves implying unambiguously an increase in I_H and a decline in I_L .²⁰ The fact that there is a parallel shift can be seen by computing the limits of (21a') and (21c') over the unit interval. Formally this is given by $\lim_{I_L \to 1} I_H = 1 + (I_2 - I_1) + \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{L}}\beta_L(1)$ and $\lim_{I_H \to 0} I_H = -((I_2 - I_1) + \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{H}}\beta_H(0))$. Thus it is readily evident that changes in the set of offshorable tasks lead to a shift in both curves, whereas changes in factor-biased technology or endowments captured by the terms $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{L}}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{H}}$ will also affect the slope of both curves. We summarize by the following Lemma the first sufficient condition.

Lemma 4. For any given values of $I_O \in (I_L, I_H)$, Eqs. (21a') and (21c') determine the unique values of I_L and I_H in the (I_L, I_H) -space.

Unique solution of offshoring task margins

In order to assess the uniqueness of the offshoring task margins, we need to account explicitly for them. In doing so, recall the offshoring no-arbitrage conditions (5) and (6). Combining these conditions with the equilibrium relative demand conditions, we obtain

$$\frac{\mathcal{B}}{N_M A_M} \omega^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} = \frac{\zeta_1(I_1)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \Omega(\cdot)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}}}{I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1)}$$
(F.17)

$$\frac{\mathcal{B}}{N_M A_M} \omega^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} = \frac{\zeta_2(I_2)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \Omega(\cdot)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}}}{I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1)}.$$
(F.18)

²⁰ Since the two curves have different slopes in absolute values, any parallel shift induces an unambiguous change in both margins.

The equilibrium properties of the offshoring margins can be assessed as follows. For all $I_L \in (0, I_2)$ and $I_H \in (I_2, 1)$, Eqs. (F.17) and (F.18) determine the equilibrium values of I_1 and I_2 . However, notice that, due to the non-linearity, we derive the implicit solution by means of the Implicit Function Theorem (IFT).

Consider first Eq. (F.17). Rearranging slightly yields

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{O}}(I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1)) = \zeta(I_1)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \left(\Omega(\cdot)\right)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}},\tag{F.17'}$$

with $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{O}}\equiv rac{\mathcal{B}}{N_MA_M}\omega^{rac{1}{lpha}}.$

Take logs in (F.17') and define

$$\mathcal{G}(I_1, I_2) \equiv \ln \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{O}} + \ln(I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1)) - \frac{1}{\alpha} \ln \zeta(I_1) - \frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha} \ln \Omega(I_1, I_2, \cdot) = 0. \quad (F.17'')$$

Then, taking for the moment I_L and I_H as given, by IFT we obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}I_2}{\mathrm{d}I_1} = -\frac{\mathcal{G}_{I_1}(I_1, I_2)}{\mathcal{G}_{I_2}(I_1, I_2)},\tag{F.19}$$

where $\mathcal{G}_{I_1}(I_1, I_2)$ and $\mathcal{G}_{I_2}(I_1, I_2)$ denote the partial derivatives w.r.t. the extensive margins and are defined by

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \mathcal{G}(I_1, I_2)}{\partial I_1} &= \frac{1}{I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1)} - \frac{1}{\alpha} \frac{\zeta_{I_1}(I_1)}{\zeta(I_1)} - \frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha} \frac{\Omega_{I_1}(\cdot)}{\Omega(\cdot)} \\ \frac{\partial \mathcal{G}(I_1, I_2)}{\partial I_2} &= -\frac{1}{I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1)} - \frac{1 - \alpha}{\alpha} \frac{\Omega_{I_2}(\cdot)}{\Omega(\cdot)}, \end{aligned}$$

where²¹

$$\frac{\Omega_{I_1}(\cdot)}{\Omega(\cdot)} = -(\check{I} - I_1)\frac{\zeta_{I_1}(I_1)}{\zeta(I_1)}, \quad \frac{\Omega_{I_2}(\cdot)}{\Omega(\cdot)} = -(I_2 - \check{I})\frac{\zeta_{I_2}(I_2)}{\zeta(I_2)},$$

with $\zeta_j(j)$ denoting the partial derivative w.r.t. to $j = \{I_1, I_2\}$. Note also that the IFT requires $\mathcal{G}_{I_2}(I_1, I_2) \neq 0$. Recalling the definition of the elasticities of the task productivities at the extensive offshore margins $\tilde{\varepsilon}_{\zeta_1} = -\frac{\zeta_{I_1}(I_1)}{\zeta(I_1)}I_1 > 0$ and $\varepsilon_{\zeta_2} = \frac{\zeta_{I_2}(I_2)}{\zeta(I_2)}I_2 > 0$, then utilizing the solutions of the partial derivatives in (F.19), we get

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}I_2}{\mathrm{d}I_1} = -\left(\frac{\frac{I_1}{I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1)} + \left(1 - (1 - \alpha)(\check{I} - I_1)\right)\frac{\check{\varepsilon}_{\zeta_1}}{\alpha}}{-\frac{I_2}{I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1)} + (1 - \alpha)(I_2 - \check{I})\frac{\varepsilon_{\zeta_2}}{\alpha}}I_1\right).$$

Rearranging slightly yields

$$\frac{\hat{I}_2}{\hat{I}_1} = \left(\frac{\alpha I_1 + \left(1 - (1 - \alpha)(\check{I} - I_1)\right)(I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1))\tilde{\varepsilon}_{\zeta_1}}{\alpha I_2 - (1 - \alpha)(I_2 - \check{I})(I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1))\varepsilon_{\zeta_2}}\right) \equiv q(I_1, I_2, \cdot), \tag{F.19'}$$

where $\hat{x} \equiv \frac{dx}{r}$ denotes the rate of change. Thus, the right hand side of (F.19'), $q(I_1, I_2)$, denotes the elasticity.

We now turn to the implicit behavior of Eq. (F.18). Rearrange this equation to obtain

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{O}}(I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1)) = \zeta(I_2)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} (\Omega(\cdot))^{\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}}.$$
(F.18')

Now, following the same steps considered for the derivation of (F.19'), we get a second implicit relation between I_2 and I_1 . Formally, it is given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}I_2}{\mathrm{d}I_1} = -\left(\frac{-\frac{I_1}{(I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1))} + (1 - \alpha)(\check{I} - I_1)\frac{\varepsilon_{\zeta_1}}{\alpha}}{\frac{I_2}{(I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1))} + (1 - (1 - \alpha)(I_2 - \check{I}))\frac{\varepsilon_{\zeta_2}}{\alpha}}I_1\right).$$
(F.20)

²¹ The derivative of $\Omega(\cdot)$ w.r.t. any task margin can be computed considering the following general case: if $f(x, \cdot) = \exp[g(x) + \ldots]$, then $\partial f(x)/\partial x = g'(x)f(x)$. Here, $g(I_1) = \int_{I_1}^{\check{I}} \ln\left(\frac{\zeta(i)}{\zeta(I_1)}\right) di$ and $g'(I_1) = -\ln \zeta(I_1) - (\check{I} - I_1)\frac{\zeta_{I_1}(I_1)}{\zeta(I_1)} + \ln \zeta(I_1) = -(\check{I} - I_1)\frac{\zeta_{I_1}(I_1)}{\zeta(I_1)}$.

Rearranging slightly, yields

$$\frac{\hat{I}_2}{\hat{I}_1} = \left(\frac{\alpha I_1 - (1 - \alpha)(\check{I} - I_1)(I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1))\tilde{\varepsilon}_{\zeta_1}}{\alpha I_2 + (1 - (1 - \alpha)(I_2 - \check{I}))(I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1))\varepsilon_{\zeta_2}}\right) \equiv z(I_1, I_2, \cdot),$$
(F.20')

where the right-hand side, $z(I_1, I_2)$, denotes the elasticity between I_2 and I_1 .

In order to assess the behavior of the two implicit relations derived in (F.19') and (F.20'), we need to elaborate on the sign of the elasticities. It is evident that the sign of the two elasticities $q(\cdot)$ and $z(\cdot)$ depends, respectively, on the sign of the denominator and the numerator. That is, from (F.19')

$$q(\cdot) = \begin{cases} >0 & \text{if } \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \frac{I_2}{(I_2 - \tilde{I})(I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1))} > \varepsilon_{\zeta_2} \\ <0 & \text{if } \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \frac{I_2}{(I_2 - \tilde{I})(I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1))} < \varepsilon_{\zeta_2}. \end{cases}$$
(F.21)

Similarly, from (F.20')

$$z(\cdot) = \begin{cases} >0 & \text{if } \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \frac{I_1}{(\check{I}-I_1)(I_H-I_L-(I_2-I_1))} > \tilde{\varepsilon}_{\zeta_1} \\ <0 & \text{if } \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} \frac{I_1}{(\check{I}-I_1)(I_H-I_L-(I_2-I_1))} < \tilde{\varepsilon}_{\zeta_1}. \end{cases}$$
(F.22)

Thus the magnitude (in absolute values) of the elasticities of the task productivity schedules at the respective extensive margins determines the implicit relation between I_2 and I_1 . Put differently, it is obvious that, if $q(\cdot)$ and $z(\cdot)$ have opposite signs, there must be a single crossing in the (I_1, I_2) -space, for all $I_L \in (0, I_1)$, $I_H \in (I_2, 1)$. Thus, when both have equal signs it is important to verify that one of the elasticities is larger (in absolute values). In doing so, define $\alpha_1 \equiv \alpha I_1$, $\alpha_2 \equiv \alpha I_2$, $\check{\alpha} \equiv (1 - \alpha)(I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1))$, $S_M \equiv (I_H - I_L - (I_2 - I_1))$, then it can be shown that

$$|q(\cdot)| > |z(\cdot)|$$

$$\left| \left(\frac{\alpha_1 + \left(\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{M}} - (\check{I} - I_1)\check{\alpha} \right) \tilde{\varepsilon}_{\zeta_1}}{\alpha_2 - (I_2 - \check{I})\check{\alpha}\varepsilon_{\zeta_2}} \right) \right| > \left| \left(\frac{\alpha_1 - (\check{I} - I_1)\check{\alpha}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{\zeta_1}}{\alpha_2 + \left(\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{M}} - \check{\alpha}(I_2 - \check{I}) \right) \varepsilon_{\zeta_2}} \right) \right|$$

$$[\alpha_2 + \left(\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{M}} - \check{\alpha}(I_2 - \check{I}) \right) \varepsilon_{\zeta_2}] [\alpha_1 + \left(\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{M}} - (\check{I} - I_1)\check{\alpha} \right) \tilde{\varepsilon}_{\zeta_1}] > (\alpha_1 - (\check{I} - I_1)\check{\alpha}\tilde{\varepsilon}_{\zeta_1}) (\alpha_2 - (I_2 - \check{I})\check{\alpha}\varepsilon_{\zeta_2})$$

$$\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{M}}(\alpha_1\varepsilon_{\zeta_2} + \alpha_2\tilde{\varepsilon}_{\zeta_1}) > 0.$$

The next lemma summarizes the second sufficient condition.²²

Lemma 5. For any values of $I_L \in (0, I_1)$ and $I_H \in (I_2, 1)$, the sufficient conditions by the Existence and Uniqueness Theorem (EUT) state that for all values in the intervals $I_1 \in (I_L, \check{I})$ and $I_2 \in (\check{I}, I_H)$ (i) a solution exists if $q(\cdot)$ and $z(\cdot)$ are continuous, and (ii) the solution is unique if both $\frac{\partial q(\cdot)}{\partial I_2}$ and $\frac{\partial z(\cdot)}{\partial I_2}$ are also continuous. Then, there exist unique values of I_1 and I_2 in the (I_1, I_2) -space.

Thus Lemmas 4 and 5 establish the sufficient conditions for the uniqueness of the equilibrium values of the four endogenous margins.

²² For a general discussion of the Existence and Uniqueness Theorem see Gandolfo (2010: Ch. 23.1.1).

Recently published

No.	Author(s)	Title	Date
<u>21/2014</u>	Klinger, S. Weber, E.	On GDP-Employment Decoupling in Germany	8/14
<u>22/2014</u>	Horbach, J.	Determinants of labor shortage - with particular focus on the German environmental sector	8/14
<u>23/2014</u>	Doerr, A. Fitzenberger, B. Kruppe, T. Paul, M. Strittmatter, A.	Employment and earnings effects of awarding training vouchers in Germany	9/14
<u>24/2014</u>	Capuano, S. Hauptmann, A. Schmerer, HJ.	Trade and unions: Can exporters benefit from collective bargaining?	10/14
<u>25/2014</u>	Homrighausen, P.	Differential pricing and private provider perfor- mance	11/14
<u>26/2014</u>	Fuchs, M. Weyh, A.	Demography and unemployment in East Germa- ny: How close are the ties?	12/14
<u>27/2014</u>	Stephan, G. Uthmann, S.	Akzeptanz von Vergeltungsmaßnahmen am Ar- beitsplatz: Befunde aus einer quasi-experimen- tellen Untersuchung published als: University of Lüneburg. Working paper series in economics : 321	12/14
<u>28/2014</u>	Wapler, R. Werner, D. Wolf, K.	Active labour-market policies in Germany: Do regional labour markets benefit?	12/14
<u>29/2014</u>	Dahmann, S. Anger, S.	The impact of education on personality: Evidence from a German high school reform	12/14
<u>1/2015</u>	Moczall, A.	The effect of hiring subsidies on regular wages	1/15
<u>2/2015</u>	Stops, M.	Revisiting German labour market reform effects: A panel data analysis for occupational labour markets	1/15
<u>3/2015</u>	Brunow, S. Grünwald, L.	Exports, agglomeration and workforce diversity: An empirical assessment for German Establish- ments	1/15
<u>4/2015</u>	Osiander, C. Dietz, M.	What could all the money do? Ergebnisse eines faktoriellen Surveys zur Bedeutung von Oppor- tunitätskosten bei Weiterbildungsentscheidun- gen	1/15
<u>5/2015</u>	Lucht, M. Haas, A.	The productivity effect of migrants: Wage cost advantages and heterogeneous firms	2/15
<u>6/2015</u>	Brenzel, H. Müller, A.	Higher wages or lower expectations? Adjust- ments of German firms in the hiring process	2/15

As per: 2015-02-11

For a full list, consult the IAB website <u>http://www.iab.de/de/publikationen/discussionpaper.aspx</u>

Imprint

IAB-Discussion Paper 7/2015

Editorial address

Institute for Employment Research of the Federal Employment Agency Regensburger Str. 104 D-90478 Nuremberg

Editorial staff Regina Stoll, Jutta Palm-Nowak

Technical completion Gertrud Steele

All rights reserved

Reproduction and distribution in any form, also in parts, requires the permission of IAB Nuremberg

Website http://www.iab.de

Download of this Discussion Paper http://doku.iab.de/discussionpapers/2015/dp0715.pdf

ISSN 2195-2663

For further inquiries contact the author:

Ehsan Vallizadeh Phone +49.911.179 7836 E-mail ehsan.vallizadeh@iab.de